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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES
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CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS ATBH

This annual report (in both English and Chinese versions) is  ANF3R(H « T CARA) A] (A Q BT AL R
available to any shareholder of the Company (“Shareholders”)  ([A%E |)iE R AHIRIAS R EBH AL FFT
either in printed form and on the websites of The Stock AR A B UL(https://www.hkexnews.hk) &
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (https://www.hkexnews.hk) 7N &) Z fBUEUER » A IRIR - AR A%
and the Company. In order to protect the environment, the B EIRIZAE FHRAWEUARELR o
Company highly recommends the Shareholders to receive %R EREFER LA 2 2B - B B E
electronic copy of this annual report. Shareholders may have % =k & #(is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com)
the right to change their choice of receipt of our future RARBZKRMNBLERLERISEWER
Corporate Communications at any time by reasonable notice AR AR | BEATIEE B & UEA 7 &
in writing to the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor FlZAR e

Secretaries Limited, by post or by email at is-enquiries@hk.

tricorglobal.com.
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RESULTS SUMMARY
REME

HK$'000

TAET

Revenue

YA

Retail

Wholesale & Special projects
#ERTIZEH

Gross profit

EH

Net (loss)

#(ER)

For the year ended 31 March

HZE3A31BLEE

20204 20194
218,853 242,959
198,594 226,795
20,259 16,164
134,368 152,264
(11,628) (3,978)

@ Total revenue inevitably decreased by less than 10% only
to HK$219 million, despite facing the unprecedented
challenges of the local retail market

@® Among the several retail lines, the sales revenue from
“at e home” surged over 200% to HK$24 million

@ Gross profit margin slightly adjusted from 62.7% to 61.4%

@ With effective cost control measures and rationalisation of
retail network, the loss situation during the second half of
the Year was in a more controllable manner (the net loss
during the first half of the Year was HK$10 million while the
net loss for the Year was HK$12 million)

@ A positive earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation was maintained

@ Efforts to improve working capital management were paid
off, inventory notably decreased to HK$36 million (31
March 2019: HK$46 million); cash and cash equivalents
increased to HK$64 million (31 March 2019: HK$59
million)

@ Repaid all bank borrowings during the Year, hence gearing
ratio was zero

MEmME AT ENS ARG ORE . QA&
Al R THRETZR10% 22 1985 T

ERZNTELET [at e home] M EEE AIEE
FHEBiE200% 22,4008 45 T

EFEHC2.7%EMAEE61.4%

MR BB R RAESEE - M EEIET ZES
W AEETHFZBERRAERATE(RFE L
FEZFEER 0008 MAFEERFZFE
BR1,200887T)

BRI E R A B D R MRS IR 2K

BMAONELEESEEENR TEEZ R ES,600
E787T(2019%F3HA31H : 4,6008#87T): IRE MR
S EEYRIINZEE,4008 8 L (2019F3A318 -
5,9008%7T)

RAFEEEEEMRITER AR ELXAT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EE BT AT

Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is a
leading retailer of high quality home furniture mainly
imported from Europe. The Company’s shares have been first
listed (the “IPO”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since January
2018.

The Group has been established for over 40 years, and takes
pride in providing superior quality stylish furniture in Hong
Kong. As at 31 March 2020, the Group operated 21 points-
of-sale (“POS”) in Hong Kong, including 18 stores under
several retail lines — “Ulferts Signature”, “Ulferts”, “at e
home” and “Dormire”, together with 2 department store
counters and 1 pop-up store under “Ulfenbo”. “Ulferts” is
dedicated to transforming living spaces into ideal homes,
and offers a wide variety of contemporary style furniture
products targeting middle to high-mid income groups. “at
home” offers quality compact furniture to suit small living
spaces for modern families. “Dormire”, on the other hand,
offers mattresses, pillows, sofabeds, sofas and other
ancillary items under the Group’s self-owned brand
“Ulfenbo”, targeting the mass market. “Ulfenbo” products
are also distributed through its retail networks including
department store counters, pop-up stores and roadshows,
and wholesaling to over 200 dealers. Additionally, there are
several online shopping platforms which maximise market
coverage.

BEEBRERAR(TARR D REWBA
(B AEE ] —REEEBUMNED
BERMHELEZTER -ARF2RHBE
2018F1ARRERBHAERIMABRA A
(TBXFDERILALETTERARRA
A& 1)

REBRK T BBA0F  —HIUAREBIRM
FEEE R A ARM A S - 120203 A
B AEEERBLE21EAEEE 8
s E [ BE R E M JE || Bi1E &
| -[at « home] x| ZIR% | TEKRHE
A MREBEE N2 ERRE
EFAREREE o[ BHE&F | BN IEETERE

FTERIEBRE - X IRH 2 RARKE
ROEMER BREEFPRTHEF R
WAEFEE-[at e« home | 1R B EEITX
il NBERARED N2 EEER 5 —
THE [ SR REAKE B RMmE B
B Z2R1E TR FAER - RME A R Bl
REEM HHRRTS -[BILHE]Em
TREZEREEBEAEAREE RE
JERBERE D AR T E200K &
HE e UbsN ERBBEMLEY T A INE
AMHEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EE B MO

MARKET REVIEW

The local retail market experienced unprecedented challenges
during the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year”). The ongoing
Sino-US trade dispute and local social issues unqguestionably
impacted economic development and consumer sentiment in
Hong Kong. Unemployment rate continued to climb starting
from the fourth quarter of 2019. The market landscape has
further deteriorated since late January 2020 as the outbreak of
coronavirus disease (COVID-19; the “Pandemic”) continued to
impact on operations across business segments, further
dampened consumer confidence, affected the store traffic and
disrupted the supply chain. Fears of a global economic
recession increased, as a result of the public health crisis. New
residential property sales launch slowed down in the first
quarter of 2020, leading to a decrease in the number of
residential property sales transactions; in addition, people tend
to stay home amid the Pandemic, thereby weakening the
market demand for home furniture.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overall Review

Against the backdrop of the down cycle of retail market, the
Group’s total revenue inevitably decreased by 9.9% to
HK$218.9 million (2019: HK$243.0 million) during the Year.
Gross profit decreased to HK$134.4 million (2019: HK$152.3
million). Gross profit margin slightly adjusted to 61.4% (2019:
62.7%).
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FEAEE 7 AU A ] % T £9.9%
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% 1 152,300,000/8 70 ) EF KR MARE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EE BT AT

Revenue from the retail segment amounted to HK$198.6
million (2019: HK$226.8 million), accounting for 90.7% (2019:
93.3%) of the Group’s total revenue. Among the retail
revenue, aggregate sales revenue of “Ulferts” and “Ulferts
Signature” amounted to HK$153.7 million (2019: HK$187.2
million), and remained the key revenue contributor,
accounting for 77.4% (2019: 82.5%) of total retail revenue.
As some of the “at ¢ home” stores commenced operation in
the second half of the previous financial year only, and 1
store was newly opened during the Year, the sales revenue of
‘at « home” increased significantly by 225.7% to HK$24.1
million (2019: HK$7.4 million), accounting for 12.1% (2019:
3.3%) of total retail revenue.

Despite the retail slump, the Group managed to maintain a
positive earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation during the Year. The net loss during the first half
of the Year was HK$10.3 million while the net loss for the
Year was HK$11.6 million (2019: net loss of HK$4.0 million).
Due to the implementation of aggressive and effective cost
saving measures coupled with rationalisation of the retail
network, the loss situation during the second half of the Year
was in more controllable manner.

TESEUA E198,600,000/8 7T (20194 :
226,800,0000/87T) ' 1 AL B 42U A 90.7%
(2019%:93.3%) ° RZEW AR [BLEE M |
MBEtEREEE] 26 XHEEREA
153,700,000/ 7T (20194F : 187,200,000/%
7o) NAEZRARIR AEREEWATT.4%
(20194 : 82.5%) > AR  Ehfnlat « home] J&
R E—BREREZTEESHBEE N
FRARFEEFIEIE L (at « homel 2
£ & 58 K818 NN225.7% % 24,100,00078 7T
(20194 : 7,400,000 7T ) 1E @ T E U A
12.1% (20194F : 3.3%)°

BESEEERR NEERAFE DS
RESTHIMERBHEIAN KNFE LF
& 7 FE 18 A10,300,000/8 7t 0 i A FE
2 7R 518 A11,600,0000 7T (20194F %
[E5184,000,0008 7T )c AR EMHER &G
MEK AT ERE MEEBIETZSEH
1w AFETEF BRI BTIE-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

There was no change in the capital structure during the Year.
The Group strived for better working capital management in
light of the challenging economic climate. As at 31 March
2020, the Group’s inventory notably decreased to HK$36.4
million (31 March 2019: HK$46.3 million), reflecting its
effective inventory management control and stock
replenishment policy. Meanwhile, cash and cash equivalents
of the Group increased to HK$63.7 million (31 March 2019:
HK$59.5 million), which were mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. As at 31 March 2020, bank borrowings of the
Group was nil due to repayment of all bank borrowings
during the Year (31 March 2019: HK$4.0 million), hence its
gearing ratio was zero (31 March 2019: 3.6%). The Group
has available banking facilities of approximately HK$87.1
million. The cash position and banking facilities available
enable the Group to retain high flexibility and endurance to
cater for future development and market uncertainty.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$118.0 million (31 March
2019: HK$126.2 million) and HK$84.4 million (31 March
2019: HK$56.0 million), respectively. Current ratio and quick
ratio of the Group were 1.4 (31 March 2019: 2.3) and 1.0 (31
March 2019: 1.4), respectively.

In view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2020,
the board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or
“Directors”) considered that the Group had sufficient working
capital for its operations and future development plans
against market challenges.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EE}E_THH/\ﬁ*ﬁ

Use of Proceeds FIERIERE

During the IPO in January 2018, the net proceeds from the M2018F 18 2 & X AR LHATE
listing were approximately HK$92.6 million. An analysis of the — FXIE F 58 #) A92,600,000/% JT ° Fﬁ?%fk
utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 March 2020 is set out FZi#; 2202038318 2 FE BB R DT
below: R

Actual use of

net proceeds

up to

Allocation of 31 March 2020
use of net FIBRIAFEE
proceeds REZE20205F
FRERRFE 3A31H
ZAEAE ZERAZ

(HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BE#BT) (EEHBIT)

Capital expenditure, rental deposits and overhead expenses for opening of 34.2 34.2
“at e home” retail stores
sk [at e home | TE/E 7 EALH HEXRS REFHER

Strengthening the Group’s product portfolio 24.2 24.2
BIEAEBzERES
Enhancing “Ulfenbo” sales channels and brand awareness 10.3 10.3

1gos [BEE | EmEERENMERNEE

Capital expenditure and rental deposits for opening of “Ulferts” retail store 9.1 8.5

& BEER ] TEEZEATHREERS

Upgrading information technology 5.7 0.3

RITE AR R 5

General working capital 9.1 9.1
}'LJ\)\ é%

Total 92.6 86.6

att
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EE BRI

BUSINESS REVIEW

Retail Business

Effective Market Segmentation

With a clear understanding of market segmentation, the
Group defines and identifies target consumer profiles in
order to develop product and marketing strategies to
reach out to their specific preferences.

“Ulferts”, the Group’s core retail label, is dedicated to
providing high quality, stylish and luxury furniture,
enabling its customers to create their ideal homes. To
offer a wide variety of contemporary style furniture
products targeting middle to high-mid income groups,
the Group operates “Ulferts” showrooms across Hong
Kong. “Ulferts Signature” offers high-end branded
furniture products and luxury European tailor-made
furniture. It targets up-market customers seeking a
superior lifestyle.

Another retail line, “at ¢ home”, offers quality, stylish and
compact furniture. It targets the mid-range segment and
is geared towards the needs of young couples and small
families.

“Ulfenbo” products focus on mass market consumers
who demand quality and affordable mattresses, pillows
and other ancillary items to enhance their sleep
experience. To facilitate the retailing of “Ulfenbo”
products, the Group operates “Dormire” specialty stores
which are typically small-scale, and are designed with a
casual and relaxing environment, to highlight smart living
style. “Ulfenbo” products are also distributed at
department store counters, pop-up stores and
roadshows for enhancing the market reach.

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
Annual Report 2019/2020 3
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB R4

Diverse Product Portfolio

The Group offers a wide variety of furniture products —
ranging from leather and fabric sofas, cabinets, dining
tables and chairs, through wardrobes, coffee tables and
sideboards, to beds, which are imported from European
and Asian countries. The Group currently carries more
than 50 furniture brands in “Ulferts Signature” and
“Ulferts” showrooms, as well as “at ¢ home” stores,
including international brands such as himolla, Malerba,
Gamma, Cornelio Cappellini, Kristalia, Tonelli and
Domicil, with which the Group has built long-standing
relationship. “at ¢ home” particularly offers various
compact furniture products with special features and
functions to suit the local small living spaces, as well as
chic Danish home accessories.

The Group also offers mattresses, pillows, sofas,
sofabeds, beds, as well as other ancillary items under its
self-owned label “Ulfenbo”. The Group provides different
models of mattresses, in various sizes with varying
supports, to meet diverse customer needs.

ERWERES

REBRESEDR RO EME
moRERERMERL ROE &
KRB UERE XKL AJLKE
K: B RBNERDNER 2 EDE
me AEBERBEEREEE ] &
[BEEM [R5 =LA K [at  home ]
JEHEBBSOREERMmE R BE
HAEEREY T RESEBER ZBIE
fmEg - fhhimolla* Malerba* Gamma
Cornelio Cappellini * Kristalia~ Tonelli
KDomicil°[at ¢ home | £ 4T &85
B R AR 2 IR A&

AWM NEEER BITEES
FHE R fm o

AEEEBEBERME T BEE R
R4 - P08 - Hife ~ FAEFR ~ JK - A
REMEEER ARERENRE
5% ARIRST RARFAFEE Z K45 - BA
METRBEEZRE-
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Comprehensive Retail Sales Channel

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 21 POS (31 March
2019: 20) in Hong Kong. The number of POS in each
retail line is as follows:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EE BRI

2 EEHERE

R2020F3A31H KREBEBREBXR
H211@ 45 & B5(201943H31H : 20
) STERZHESRBEWMT ¢

Retail Line Number of POS
ZER HENHA
“‘Ulferts Signature” 1
[ BE B B e e |

‘Ulferts” 5
[ B1E &

“‘at e home” 4
[at e home ]

‘Dormire” and “Ulfenbo” department store counters and pop-up store 11
[ZRE | [ BEE | A EARIFEERREE

Total 21
At

“Ulferts” showrooms are strategically located in either
upscale residential areas or major shopping areas,
targeting middle to high-mid income groups. With its
solid presence in these mature locations, the Group
enjoys substantial foot traffic and a high brand
reputation. The Group’s largest flagship store, “Ulferts
Signature”, is a 3-storey store with gross floor area of
approximately 21,700 square feet, in Hung Hom. It
features more luxurious lines of furniture and
masterpieces with opulent designs and sophisticated
finishing and excellent craftsmanship. Premium brands
including Cornelio Cappellini and Crystal Stone are
available at “Ulferts Signature”.

“‘at « home” stores are located in upscale shopping
malls, and there has been growing awareness of the
brand among residents and consumers. Meanwhile,
“‘Dormire” specialty stores and “Ulfenbo” department
store counters, pop-up stores and roadshows are
situated in residential areas, to capitalise on the market
potential. During the Year, 1 “at ¢ home” store, 1
“‘Dormire” specialty store and 1 “Ulfenbo” pop-up store
were opened in Kowloon Bay, Tin Shui Wai and Tsuen
Wan respectively, to further expand market coverage in
Kowloon and the New Territories.

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
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Excellent Customers Shopping Experience

“Ulferts Signature” and “Ulferts” showrooms are
spacious, with a stylish and elegant environment, enabling
the Group to display a wide spectrum of products for
customers to touch and feel and to maximise customers’
shopping experience. The ambience, setting and
placement of furniture within the distinctive display zones
have all been tailor-designed by a dedicated visual
merchandising team to impart harmonious, home-like
comfort. The salespersons are well-trained and offer
customers advice catering for their personal needs. In
recognition of its service excellence, the Group was
awarded the “2019 Service Retailers of the Year —
Furniture & House Accessories Category” and the
“Quality Service Leader Seasonal Award - Furniture &
Home Accessories Category” (formerly known as
“Quarterly Service Leader”) during April to June, July to
September and October to December 2019, in the
Quality Service Programme (formerly known as “Mystery
Shoppers Programme”) organised by the Hong Kong
Retail Management Association.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB

BEEERBYRER

[BEEBB T E | [ B &M PR
EEREEM RBEE LB AEER
EERITEBREEZ 2 ESR WiE
FEERBLRREY LRABRZED
BHR - SRFERYEAZAE - HE R
R ER 25 HERnERE K
EEEF NEENBELRBERESX
EMRziERE-HEABIHREA
2 NEEBRCEATSERHESE
RotEREASEEERBENRT - K
SEREETEEERSRNNED
RIS EI(RITE [ BB RETE ) P&
BI2019F ERBEEFRERE
EAmMAR | A KR2019%F4H £6
A 7TRAZE9ARI0AE12AERIEE
R EHMEER(EREREERmA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

e Diversified Marketing Strategies

The Group believes that brand recognition is crucial for
driving long-term growth and success. To enhance brand
awareness, the Group conducted a range of marketing
and promotional campaigns spanning social media
engagements, print advertisements, TV commercials,
outdoor billboards and advertising on regular basis as
well as pop-up exhibitions at suitable venues. It also
launched promotional campaigns such as seasonal sale,
annual sale and stock clearance sale, as well as joint
promotions with banks and other financial institutions
and reward programmes such as Asia Miles.

Wholesale Business

The Group also operates a wholesale business spanning
mattresses, sofabeds and sofas under its self-owned label
“‘Ulfenbo”, through over 200 dealers in Hong Kong and
Macau. Based on its long establishment and quality
products, the “Ulfenbo” brand has been recognised by the
“Hong Kong Top Brand Mark” for six consecutive years since
2014, under the Hong Kong Top Brand Scheme organised by
the Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong Kong and
Hong Kong Brand Development Council.

Special Projects

Complementing its retail and wholesale business, the Group
has a special projects division, which undertakes furniture-
related projects primarily for corporate customers such as
offices, cinemas, hotels, showflats and tertiary institutions.
The division provides services ranging from planning and
design, through procuring custom-made furniture to final
installation for corporate customers, as well as consultation
and liaison services with furniture manufacturers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EE BT AT

PROSPECTS

The Pandemic and ongoing Sino-US trade war will continue
casting shadows on the growth of the global economy. All the
recent economic statistics have revealed that the local
economy has been moving downward. As the economic
outlook and employment prospects are uncertain, home
buyers and investors are likely to delay the purchase of
properties and property developers tend to slow down the
launch of new properties, which may impair the market
demand for home furniture.

Riding on its comprehensive product portfolio with a well-
defined market segmentation, the Group will strive to
increase the sales revenue by adjusting the product
coverage and strengthening the promotional efforts. The
Group will also continue to enhance its sales network and
strengthen its market presence. Meanwhile, as some
consumers refrained from making physical shop visits due to
public health concerns, the Group will further explore online
business by expanding social media engagements and
enhancing the online sales platform.
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Overall, the local market is adopting a wait-and-see attitude.
The Group will closely monitor market conditions, and take all
practical measures to cope with the challenges ahead,
including the rationalisation of retail coverage, implementation
of working capital management and cost-control measures.
With a history of over 40 years in Hong Kong, the Group will
endeavour to weather the storm in the face of difficult times
along with Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s number of employees was
125 (2019: 137). Total staff costs including Directors’
remuneration and the other staff costs for the Year were
HK$41.9 million (2019: HK$47.7 million). Each employee’s
remuneration was determined in accordance with individual’'s
responsibilities, competence and skills, experience and
performance as well as market pay levels. Staff benefits
include medical and life insurance, retirement benefits and
other competitive fringe benefits.

To provide incentives or rewards to the staff, the Company
has adopted a share option scheme, particulars of which are
set out in the section headed “Share Options” on page 24 of
this annual report.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEAGZER

Executive Director (Chairman)

WONG CHI FAIl, aged 64, an Executive Director of the
Company and Chairman of the Board. He has been involved
in the management of the Group since 1992 and is
responsible for overseeing the financial management and
advising on the business strategic planning and development
of our Group. He is the Chairman of the Executive Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company
as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Currently, Mr. Wong is also a director of Emperor International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 163) (“Emperor International”),
Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited (Stock Code: 296)
(“Emperor E Hotel”), Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited
(Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor W&J”) and Emperor Culture
Group Limited (Stock Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture”), all
being associated corporations of the Company. Having over
30 years of finance and management experience, he has
diversified experiences in different businesses ranging from
wholesaling and retailing of furniture to manufacturing,
property investment and development, hotel and hospitality,
retailing of watch and jewellery, financial and securities
services, cinema development and operation to entertainment
production and investment, artiste management as well as
media and publication. Mr. Wong is a Certified Public
Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

NG KOON KEUNG, RICKY, aged 51, an Executive Director
of the Company and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. He joined the Group in January 2014 and is
responsible for the overall management of the Group and
planning the Group’s business and strategies. Mr. Ng is a
member of the Executive Committee as well as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 25 years’
experience in retail, product planning, operations, marketing
and business development and was employed by well-known
retail brands in telecommunication and consumables goods
and luxury accessories in Hong Kong. Mr. Ng joined TSL
Jewellery (H.K.) Co. Ltd. in August 2009 as general manager
(Hong Kong, Macau and Malaysia) and was Director of Sales
and Business Development (HK and Overseas) when he left
in January 2014. He was Assistant Vice President, Channel
Marketing at PCCW Limited from October 2006 to March
2009. Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor of Business Administration
awarded by Hong Kong Baptist College (now Hong Kong
Baptist University). He also holds a Degree of Master of
Management in Marketing Management and a Degree of
Master of Business Administration awarded by Macquaire
University, Sydney, Australia.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEASZER

Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer and
Company Secretary

MOK FUNG LIN, IVY, aged 55, an Executive Director of the
Company and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group. She
joined the Group in July 2011 and is responsible for the
business operational management and policy implementation in
the Group. Ms. Mok is the Company Secretary of the Company
and a member of the Executive Committee as well as a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Before joining our
Group, she was a director of Emperor International and
Emperor E Hotel from February 2000 to July 2011 and has
accrued over 17 years’ experience in corporate management
and possesses experience in businesses including property
investment and development, retailing, wholesaling, marketing
and trading. Ms. Mok was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong
and the United Kingdom, and holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree
awarded by The University of Hong Kong. She also holds a
Degree of Master of Business Administration awarded by The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.

Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA (Former name: Fan Man Seung),
aged 57, an Executive Director of the Company. She has been
involved in the management of the Group since July 1992 and is
responsible for overseeing the overall corporate management and
advising on the business strategy of the Group. She is the
Chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee, a member
of the Nomination Committee and the Executive Committee of the
Company as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Currently, Ms. Fan is also a director of Emperor
International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J and Emperor
Culture. Having over 31 years of corporate management
experience, she possesses diversified experience in different
businesses ranging from wholesaling and retailing of furniture,
property investment and development, hotel and hospitality,
retailing of watch and jewellery, financial and securities services,
cinema development and operation to entertainment production
and investment, artiste management as well as media and
publication. Ms. Fan is a lawyer by profession in Hong Kong and a
qualified accountant, and holds a Master's Degree in Business
Administration.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEAGZER

Independent Non-executive Directors

CHAN YEE MAN, aged 46, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2018. She
is the Chairperson of the Audit Committee as well as a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Ms. Chan has been practising as
a Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong and has over 27
years of experience in the accounting profession. She holds
a Bachelor of Accounting Degree awarded by The University
of Hong Kong and a Master of Corporate Finance Degree
awarded by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Chan
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

CHIU KIN FAI, aged 46, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is
the Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chiu is a partner of a
solicitors firm, T.H. Koo & Associates. He was admitted as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in 1998 and holds a Bachelor of Laws
Degree awarded by The University of Hong Kong.

NG HOI YUE, aged 56, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Ng is currently an executive
director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Asian Citrus
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 73) and an independent non-
executive director of Imperial Pacific International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1076). He was previously an
independent non-executive director of Emperor Culture until
13 November 2018. Mr. Ng has been practising as a
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong since 1989. He is
a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in England.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 67 of this annual report.

No interim dividend (2019: Nil) was paid to the Shareholders
during the Year.

The Board did not recommend any payment of a final
dividend for the Year (2019: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year and an
analysis of the likely future development of the Group’s
business are set out in the Management Discussion and
Analysis from pages 5 to 16 of this annual report. Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report from pages 53
to 56 of this annual report and note 30 to the financial
statements respectively.

There is no important event affecting the Group that had
occurred since the end of the Year up to the date of this
report.

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, key relationships with the Company’s key
stakeholders as well as compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Company
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report 2019/2020.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 12 to the
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements.

RETAINED PROFITS/ACCUMULATED LOSS

Details of movements in the retained profits/accumulated
loss of the Group during the Year are set out on page 70 of
this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2020, the Company had no reserve available
for distribution to the Shareholders (2019: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 144
of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Yee Man
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
as at the date of this report are set out from pages 17 to 19
of this annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration are
set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

In accordance with Article 80(1) and (3) of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky, Ms. Fan
Man Seung, Vanessa and Ms. Chan Yee Man shall retire by
rotation at the 2020 AGM and, being eligible, shall offer
themselves for re-election thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at
the 2020 AGM has an unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business were entered into or
existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions
which are provided for in the Company’s Articles of
Association and in the directors and officers liability
insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential
liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of the
Group respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors adopted by the Company (“Ulferts
Securities Code”) were as follows:

(A) Interests in the Company
None of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company.

(B) Interests in associated corporation of the Company

(i) Ordinary Shares
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(i) BEK

Number of
ordinary
shares % of issued
Name of interested voting shares
associated Capacity/Nature FiEEER BT
Name of Director corporation of interests ZEBER BRERE
EEHE HEZEEB B EmtE RGO E IR 3%
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Emperor International Beneficial Owner 10,500,000 0.29%
Vanessa Holdings Limited EmEAA
SEEUR 2L (“Emperor International”)
HEEE(BEB)ERATF
([RERE])
(ii) Debentures (ii) EREE

Name of
associated
corporation
HEEE B8

Name of Director

ExpS

The interests stated above represent long position. Save as
disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors
nor chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Capacity/Nature of interests

54 EEtE
Mr. Wong Chi Fai Emperor International Interest in a controlled corporation  HK$2,000,000
EEERE HEBBR MEERARZ R 2,000,000/ 7T

Amount of
debentures
held
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 January 2018. Particulars of the Share
Option Scheme are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements. No share option was granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption and up to 31 March 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in note 23
to the financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at
the end of the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as stated above, at the end of the Year and at no
time during the Year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their spouse or children under 18 years of
age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors nor their
respective close associates was interested in any business
which was considered to compete or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2020, the persons or corporations
(other than a Director or a chief executive of the Company)
who had, or were deemed or taken to have interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO (“DI Register”) were as follows:

Capacity/Nature of
interests

B,/ EEME

Albert Yeung Investments Holdings Limited
(*AY Investments Holdings”)
BREIREEBRER DR (BRI EER])

corporation

First Trust Management AG (“First Trust”)

Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert
(“Dr. Albert Yeung”)
BEKBL([HBEL])

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon (“Ms. Semon Luk”)
e @+ (TREZ L)) I e
Note:

These shares were held by Ulferts International Group Holdings Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of AY Investments Holdings. AY Investments
Holdings was held by First Trust in trust for a private discretionary trust
which was set up by Dr. Albert Yeung. By virtue of being the spouse of
Dr. Albert Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk also had deemed interests in the
same shares.

All interests stated above represent long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors
or chief executives of the Company were not aware of any
person or corporation (other than the Directors and chief
executives of the Company) who had, or were deemed or
taken to have, any interests or short positions in any shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the DI
Register.

Interest in a controlled

ISR EYNCIPA: $ad

Trustee of a private trust

FAEFEZEFEA

Founder of a private trust

FAEFEZBISZA

Interest of spouse

FTERRRHEMAL ZER

MEMEBEERARREBITHRAEA

R2020%F3A31H BREZFEHAQNAIEE
FTEABIN ATTATFEER AR R
MEAARD T HEEXERAEKEEES
BERIBES R E KD E33614E T H#1F
PEM ([ HEEEERM ) 2 AR

Number of

ordinary

shares
interested % of issued
#E#ER voting shares
ZEBR HERT
BAEBE BEREERHD%
600,000,000 75%
600,000,000 75%
600,000,000 75%
600,000,000 75%

GEX

ZEBRND TG EREREER 2 2 EWE R BK
EEBRERERERARINE - HERIREERH
First Trust K—RAZEEFE(BBELEI)#F
B-ZREREIRBBLZER RITREAHES

AER O M o

LA B R

B EXEEIN 2020963 A31H &
KARNREBITHRABL AABEMAL
SOEE(BRESERARAEZITHMABIN
FAZN A B R B% 1 sk AR B AR 1 AP B B Bl
BAERNEFREARHENESE LM 2T M

R AR -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED

TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions with connected persons (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company:

A.

Master Leasing Agreement (“MLA”)

Date:

Parties:

Nature:

24 May 2018

(1) The Company
(2) Emperor International

The MLA sets out the framework of the
terms governing all existing and future
tenancy/licensing transaction(s) (“Tenancy
Transaction(s)”) regarding leasing of
certain office properties or other properties
(including signage or signboard space)
from Emperor International for the period
from 24 May 2018 to 31 March 2021 with
aggregate tenancy annual caps for the
Company being set for each of the financial
years ended/ending 31 March 2019, 2020
and 2021 (“Aggregate Tenancy Annual
Caps”).

Pursuant to the MLA, relevant member(s) of
the Group and any member(s) of Emperor
International may from time to time enter
into any definitive leasing agreements in
relation to any Tenancy Transaction
(“Definitive Leasing Agreement”) on terms
and conditions as may be agreed between
the relevant parties. The terms of each
Definitive Leasing Agreement shall be on
normal commercial terms or on terms which
are no less favorable than those offered by
independent third parties. The terms and
rental shall be subject to arm’s length
negotiation and determined based on the
condition of the properties and with
reference to the then prevailing market
rents on properties comparable in location,
area and permitted use. The aggregate
amount paid/payable in respect of the
Tenancy Transactions for the Year was
HK$8,312,000.
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Announcement:

Effective Date:

Both the Company and Emperor International
were indirectly controlled by the relevant
private discretionary trusts set up by Dr.
Albert Yeung who is the deemed substantial
shareholder of the Company. As such, under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, Emperor
International was a connected person of the
Company and accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the MLA constituted
continuing connected transactions of the
Company. The MLA and the Aggregate
Tenancy Annual caps were approved by the
Board of the Company.

27 June 2018

9 August 2018, whereupon the Aggregate
Tenancy Annual Caps had replaced all the
then annual caps previously obtained by
the Company for the Tenancy Transactions.

Master Agreement on Provision of Products and

Services (“Master Agreement”)

Name of counterparty

HEuE E8

Albert Yeung Holdings
Limited (“AY Holdings”)

BEKEXZERBR AR
(I EREFRER])

Scope of Products
and Services provided

RHUERRBEENVEE

Sales/provision of goods and
services by the Group to AY
Holdings and its associates (as
defined under the Listing
Rules):

AR B [A145 52 I E S PR AR I L B e
RANFEZER FATHAIDHE 1R
e m MR

(i) Selling products and
providing consultancy
services

45 E dn 0 B2 A A S AR TS

(ii) Selling furniture coupons
4 K IMAIE 55

(iii) Providing other types of
ancillary services and any
transaction of revenue nature
REEMERNRERS RET
BWAMEEEAZ S

AAREEESEHBEHY ARG
BLalZ 2 EELARRE
ErEfEEES - miziE L
BAEARBIZEERE A
gt - Rk R A E14A
E REEBRAARQRZE
BALT HHREEWHEET
BMETZRSBRART
ZIEHBRER S BB ER
HRBEHEFE LREL

KRBEEHE -
N 20186 H27H
4% HH 201854 8H9H A & F

& ERERA A2 A Utk BT 3
HEXZBRENMBFE
FBR-

B. RHERKRKE z&WE (B

Amount for
the Year
KEEZEHE
(HK$°000)
(F#&xT)
9,754,000

Date of agreement
e =R

Term (D/M/Y)
BREEH(B B F)

15/01/2018
29/01/2018 — 31/03/2020

Ulferts International Limited EX{LBERH R A 7

Annual Report 2019/2020 #3k

27



28

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

Both the Company and AY Holdings were indirectly
controlled by the relevant private discretionary trusts set up
by Dr. Albert Yeung, being the deemed substantial
shareholder of the Company. As such, under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, AY Holdings was a connected person of
the Company and the transactions contemplated under the
Master Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company. The Company had applied for
and the Stock Exchange had granted a waiver on strict
compliance with the announcement and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules for such transactions at the time of listing.

The aggregate transaction amount for the Year had exceeded
the annual cap of HK$9,000,000 by an amount of HK$754,000,
but the total amount remained less than HK$10,000,000. The
Company had made the relevant disclosure by publication of an
announcement and had strengthened the internal control
management to enhance its reporting system and internal
control measures.

Compliance with Disclosure Requirements

None of the other related party transactions as set out in
note 26 to the financial statements constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions that are
required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Save as the aforesaid exceeding of annual cap of the
Master Agreement, the Company had complied with/got
waiver on the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the above
connected transactions.

Auditor’s Letter on Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(“CCTs”) in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” (“Auditor’s Letter”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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The auditor had issued a qualified conclusion on the
exceeding of annual cap of the Master Agreement. Other
than this, the auditor had issued unqualified conclusions in
respect of the CCTs in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditor’'s Letter had been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Confirmation of Independent Non-Executive Directors on
Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) had reviewed
the CCTs and the Auditor’'s Letter and had confirmed that
these transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better (as the case may
be); and

(iii) according to the agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract which was significant in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received from each of the INEDs an
annual confirmation of the independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered that all of
the INEDs remained independent.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the
Board as recommended by the Remuneration Committee
having regard to a written remuneration policy (which
ensures a clear link of business strategy and a close
alignment with the Shareholders’ interest and current market
best practice). Remuneration should be paid with reference
to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives, the salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Executive and Non-executive Directors,
internal equity of employment conditions across the Group
and applicability of performance-based remuneration. The
Directors’ fee are paid in line with market practice. No
individual should determine his or her own remuneration.

Employee’s remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’s responsibilities, competence and skills,
experience and performance as well as market pay levels.
Remuneration package includes, as the case may be, basic
salary, Directors’ fees, housing allowances, contribution to
pension schemes, discretionary bonus relating to financial
performance of the Group and individual performance, ad
hoc rewards, share options and other competitive fringe
benefits such as medical and life insurances.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 8
and note 9 to the financial statements respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue from sales of goods
or rendering of services attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for less than 30% (2019: 30%)
of the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers and the Group’s largest
supplier accounted for approximately 41.9% (2019: 36.5%)
and 14.6% (2019: 12.7%) respectively of the Group’s total
purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) had any interest in the above major suppliers of
the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
from pages 32 to 60 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, there
was sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company'’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire at the 2020 AGM and a resolution for
their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be
proposed thereat.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chi Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong
11 June 2020
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance for the Company so as to ensure
‘Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency” towards
Shareholder, stakeholders, investors as well as employees of
Company.

The Board has adopted various policies to ensure
compliance with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) under Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules. For the Year, The Company had fully complied
with all the code provisions of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

THE BOARD
Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible
for the leadership, control and promotion of the success of
the Group in the interests of the Shareholders by directing
and supervising its affairs and by formulating strategic
directions and monitoring the financial and management
performance of the Group.

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2020, the Board comprised seven Directors,
with four Executive Directors and three INEDs who possess
the skills, experience and expertise either in the same
industry or relevant to the management of the business of the
Group. The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages
17 to 19 of this annual report under the “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Executives” section.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wong Chi Fai has been appointed as the Chairman of the
Board who provides leadership for the Board. With the
support of the company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”), he ensures that all Directors receive,
in a timely manner, adequate information and are properly
briefed on issues arising at the board meetings. He is
responsible for ensuring that the Board works effectively and
performs its responsibilities. He holds meetings without the
presence of Executive Directors with INEDs at least once a
year.
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Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky is the Chief Executive Officer
(“CEQ") of the Group (also being an Executive Director) who
is responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, business
growth and development as well as overseeing different
functions. The day-to-day operation and management of the
Group’s businesses are delegated to Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy,
the Chief Operating Officer ("COQ”) of the Group (also being
an Executive Director and the Company Secretary).

The Board considers that the current segregation of duties
make the Board and the operation of the Group function
effectively.

Independent Non-executive Directors

All INEDs are professionals with valuable experience and
expertise in legal, accounting or auditing in business areas
who contribute impartial view and make independent
judgment on issues to be discussed at Board meetings.
Each of them has been appointed for an initial term of three
years which is renewed automatically for successive term of
one year subject to early termination with notice being
served by either party. The terms of the INEDs are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election provision
under the Articles of Association of the Company.

The Company had received confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs. Based on the annual review
conducted by the Nomination Committee, the Board
considered each of them to be independent by reference to
the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
INEDs had been expressly identified as such in all corporate
communications of the Company that disclose the names of
Directors.

Delegation to the Management

The management is led by the Executive Committee of the
Company (which comprises all the Executive Directors of the
Board) and has been delegated powers and authorities to
carry out the day-to-day management and operation of the
Group, formulate business policies and make decision on
key business issues. The Executive Committee shall have all
powers and authorities of the Board except the following
matters as set out in a “Formal Schedule on Matters
specifically reserved by the Board”:

e determining the Group’s objectives and strategies;

e approving annual and interim results and financial
reporting;
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declaring or recommending payment of dividends or
other distributions;

approving major changes that require notification by
announcement under the Listing Rules;

approving publication of the announcement for notifiable
transactions under the Listing Rules (except for
discloseable transactions in relation to lease transactions
recognizing the right-of-use asset according to HKFRS
16 “Lease”);

approving non-exempted connected transactions/non-
exempted continuing connected transactions (other than
those transactions took place from time to time under the
master agreement(s) previously approved by the Board/
Shareholders (as the case may be)) under the Listing
Rules;

approving proposed transactions requiring Shareholders’
approval as stipulated under the Listing Rules;

approving major capital re-structuring and issue of new
securities of the Company;

approving the establishment of Board committees;

approving policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, including but not
limited to risk management policy, remuneration policy
and corporate governance policy;

approving financial assistance to Directors;

ensuring the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions; and

approving such other matters or transactions as specified
by the Board or as thought fit by the Committee or as
required by all applicable laws, rules and regulations from
time to time.
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Induction, Support and Professional Development of
Directors

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director,
the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors,
duty of disclosure of equity and business interest in the
Group and such induction materials will also be provided to
newly appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as
Directors. All Directors have been updated on the latest
developments of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
There is a procedure agreed by the Board to enable
Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses in order to assist them to perform their
duties to the Company.

The Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training.
During the Year, each Director had participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/workshops/
reading materials on the following topics to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills and provided a record of
training to the Company.

Name of Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Fai e Bitas
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky R EE
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy SEEEL L
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SE8UE& L
Ms. Chan Yee Man PRAEL T+
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai R
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue meTiEE

Relationship between the Board Members

None of the members of the Board has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relations) among each other.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of any legal action against the Directors.

ESCRE TEREXRRE

%E%%ﬁa%%ﬁﬁ%%&%%Z%ﬁ
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$EIZ%‘&%%%‘H%ZTEZW
BEIES| Bk MRATTEEERTE e
#E%Wﬁﬁﬁh&iﬁ&%%ﬁﬂﬁ
Ble2BZBENE M EMMRARE A EA
%%EﬁZ%@ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬂ e i R AR
B RRMEAEEHRILEERTR
EH-EECCRTCER FEEAAER
ERTHKEBERESKBYIEEER
M%%ﬁ ERARNDNBRMITHRE BRAA
UNSIPS

ERER RFCBTREEEARATAIANE
BAEFHI 2B EERTRIE X%A65

- AAFE SEFHEDEFEFTEYE
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Vs, / MEME WBRNEEEAREZM
MR RE - WM AR RIIREEEFIGE 8

Topics of training covered

35 3| P R B AR AR

1) corporate governance (% E4

(1)

(2) finance 817

(3) industry specific 1731078
(4) regulatory 5
EEZgREMzEE

Exek 8 ZREERRBE(BENS -
%% KBRHMEKR HEEBR)-
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AAMEHEE 2 RR L HE

Ulferts International Limited EX{LBERH R A 7

Annual Report 2019/2020 #3k

35



36

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERHRE

Directors’ Attendance and Time Commitment EEHEFEEEERRFERA
The attendance of Directors at the meetings during the Year & EEZRAFELRFEZ 2B R E 500
is set out below: N

No. of meetings attended/held
hil3=F VA SiF Ve

Meeting of
Corporate Chairman
Governance with INEDs
Audit Remuneration  Nomination ~ Committee Execuive  TEEBY 2019 AGM
Name of Directors Committee  Committee  Committee TEER  Commitee  FHTES 2019
ESHF EnZEe §HzEge R4ZEe ZFEE®  #fZEe 8% BRBEAE
Executive Directors
UrES
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Note 1) 414 1 I 1 11
ELELE()
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky 414 17 17
REATE
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy 414 1 1
REERT
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (Note 2) 404 n n m il

e Rt ()

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BUEHNES
Ms. Chan Yee Man (Note 3) 4l4 33 17 7 17 17
FEESSRUIRR))
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (Note 4) 44 313 17 17 il il
BB E (k)
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (Note 5) 44 33 7 7 7 7
8T 4 (F3ts)
Total number of meetings held: 4 3 1 1 1 7 1 1
greEzey:

Notes: MisE -

1. Chairman of the Executive Committee 1. H{TZESXE

2. Chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee 2. (EEBARZESIE

3. Chairperson of the Audit Committee 3. EMRZEEIE

4. Chairman of the Nomination Committee 4. RELZEEXRE

5. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 5 HFNEZEEXRE
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The Board has reviewed the contribution required from each
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company
and is satisfied that each Director had been spending
sufficient time in performing his/her responsibilities during
the Year.

Board Meetings and Proceedings

Regular Board meetings were held at approximately quarterly
intervals. The Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary and key officers of the
company secretarial team for ensuring that the Board
procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the meeting
agenda is set by the Chairman of the Board in consultation
with other Board members. Board meeting notice was sent to
the Directors at least 14 days prior to each regular Board
meeting. For all other board meetings, reasonable notice was
given. Board papers and related materials which provide
appropriate, accurate, clear, complete and reliable
information are generally sent to all Directors and relevant
committee members at least 3 days before each Board
meeting and Board Committee meeting to enable the
Directors to make informed decisions.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are drafted by the secretary of the meetings and recorded in
sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached, with draft and final versions being circulated to the
Directors for their comment and records respectively, within
reasonable time after the meetings are held. Originals of
such minutes, being kept by the Company Secretary, are
open for inspection at any reasonable time with reasonable
notice by any Director.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to
be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board
meeting rather than a written resolution. That Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which
he/she or any of his/her associates has a material interest
and he/she shall not be counted in the quorum present at the
Board meeting. INEDs, who, and whose close associates,
have no material interest in the transaction are present at
that Board meeting.
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Board Committees

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have
been delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee,
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.

All members of the Audit Committee and majority members of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are
INEDs. Clear written terms of reference of all the Board
Committees are given to the respective members of these
Committees. Details of the Board Committees are set out
below:

1. Executive Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Executive Committee consists of all the Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman of the
Committee), Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky, Ms. Mok Fung
Lin, lvy and Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee are (a)
formulating business policies and making decision
(including entering into transactions) on matters relating
to the management and day-to-day operations of the
Group; (b) making and reviewing corporate/financial/
treasury planning, investment and operation strategy of
the Group; (c) discussing and approving any financial,
borrowing, charging and guarantee commitment to be
made by or on behalf of the Group; (d) approving any
transactions, including discloseable transactions,
exempted connected transactions and non-exempted
continuing connected transactions took place from time
to time under the master agreement(s) previously
approved by the Board/Shareholders (as the case may
be) under the Listing Rules; (e) approving any
publication of relevant announcement for discloseable
transaction in relation to lease transaction recognizing
the right-of-use asset by the Company as lessee
according to HKFRS 16 “Leases”; and (f) having all
power and authorities of the Board except those matters
specifically reserved for the full Board as set out in the
“Formal Schedule on matters reserved for and delegated
by the Board” adopted by the Board from time to time.

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
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2. Audit Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely
Ms. Chan Yee Man (Chairperson of the Committee), Mr.

Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue.

The specific written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee is
primarily responsible for (a) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process; (c)
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditor; and (d) reviewing financial information
and overseeing the financial reporting, risk management
and internal control systems. The Audit Committee held

three meetings during the Year.

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee

during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed with the management/finance personnel
and/or the external auditor the effectiveness of audit
process and the accounting polices and principles
adopted by the Group, the accuracy and fairness of
the annual consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 March 2019 (“Previous
Year”) and the interim consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended 30 September
2019;

reviewed with the senior management and finance
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group;

performed annual review of the non-exempted
continuing connected transactions of the Group
made during the Previous Year;

iv. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor at the 2019 annual general meeting
(2019 AGM”); and

v. approved the audit plan for the Year, reviewed the

independence of external auditor and approved its
engagement.
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Remuneration Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (Chairman of the Committee), Ms.
Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi Fai,
an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration Committee
is primarily responsible for making recommendation to the
Board on (a) the Company’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management; (b) the
remuneration of INEDs; and (c) the specific remuneration
packages for individual Executive Directors and senior
management. Details of the remuneration of each of the
Directors for the Year are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Remuneration
Committee held one meeting during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation
to the Board; and

ii. reviewed the current remuneration structure/package
of the Executive Directors and senior management
and recommended the Board to approve their
specific packages.

Nomination Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (Chairman of the Committee, Ms.
Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs and Ms. Fan Man
Seung, Vanessa, an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are (a) reviewing the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board; (b)
reviewing the Board Diversity Policy; (c) determining the
policy for the nomination of Directors (“Nomination
Policy”) and identifying potential candidates for
directorship; (d) assessing the independence of INEDs;
(e) reviewing the time commitment of each Director in
performing his/her responsibilities; and (f) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment, re-election or re-designation of Directors
and succession planning for Directors. The Nomination
Committee held one meeting during the Year.
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A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board;

i. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

iii. reviewed the confirmation from the Directors on time
commitment in performing their duties as Directors;
and

iv. made recommendation to the Board on the re-
election of Directors at the 2019 AGM.

Board Diversity Policy

As adopted by the Board, the Board Diversity Policy
aims to achieve diversity of the Board in the broadest
sense in order to have a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives to the business nature of
the Company. Selection of candidates on the Board is
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee will
also assess the merits and contribution of any Director
proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to
be appointed as Director that will bring to the Board
against the objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board that would complement
the Company’s corporate strategy.

Nomination Policy

The Company had adopted a written Nomination Policy
of the Group which aims at assisting the Nomination
Committee in identifying and nominating suitable
candidates for directorship based on the Board Diversity
Policy and sets out the nomination criteria and the
nomination procedures for (i) nominating new Director to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board; (ii) making
recommendation to Shareholders regarding any director
for election or re-election at general meeting; and (iii)
nomination by Shareholders on election of new Director.
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5. Corporate Governance Committee (set up on 8 January
2018)

The Corporate Governance Committee (“CGC”) consists
of five members, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
(Chairperson of the Committee), the Executive Director,
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, both being INEDs,
a representative from company secretarial function and a
representative from finance and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CGC are
available on the website of the Company. The primary
duties of the CGC are (a) reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance of the Company
(“CG Policy”) and making recommendations to the
Board; (b) reviewing and monitoring the policies and
practices of the Company on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements of the Company; (c) developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable
to Directors and relevant employees of the Group on
dealings with the Company’s securities; (d) reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and
(e) reviewing the Company’'s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this report. The CGC held one
meeting during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the CGC during the
Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the CG Policy and made recommendation
to the Board;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the said code of conduct applicable to
Directors and relevant employees of the Group; and

v. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary whose appointment was approved
by the Board, plays an important role in supporting the Board
for ensuring good information flow within the Board and that
the Board policy and procedures are followed. She is
responsible for advising the Board on general duties and
obligations of Directors and good corporate governance
issues, and has facilitated induction and professional
development of the Directors. She has day-to-day knowledge
of the Company’s affairs.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had duly complied
with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Ulferts Securities Code as its
own code of conduct regarding securities transactions on
terms no less exacting than the required standards for
securities dealings as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules regarding Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”). Having made
specific enquiry to Directors, all of them confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings as set
out in the Model Code and Ulferts Securities Code
throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare
the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group
and other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules. The management has provided all members of the
Board with monthly updates on internal financial statements
which give a balanced and understandable assessment of
the Group’s performance, position and prospects as at the
reporting date.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that
are prudent and reasonable and ensured the consolidated
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern”
basis (with supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary) and showed a true view of the state of affairs of
the Group for the Year. The management had provided
sufficient explanation and information to the Board on the
consolidated financial statements to enable it to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information
put before it for approval. The auditor of the Company had
made a statement about their reporting responsibilities in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
A. Goals and objectives

Internal control is fundamental to the successful
operation and day-to-day running of a business and it
assists a company in achieving its business objectives.
Internal control policies and procedures within the Group
are updated regularly with the primary objective of
providing general guidance and recommendations on a
basic framework of risk management and internal control
systems (“Control Systems”) in order to reduce the
likelihood or mitigate the Group’s operational risks and
inherent risks.

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
Control Systems. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

A review has been conducted on (i) the internal control
measures and procedures covering all material controls
including governance, operational, financial, and
compliance controls; and (ii) risk management functions
in its principal subsidiaries for the Year.
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B. Internal Control

The control structure of the Control Systems is set out as
follows:

1. Governance Control
The Board

e responsible for the Control Systems and reviewing
their effectiveness

e oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing
basis with the assistance of Audit Committee

e ensure maintenance of appropriate and effective
Control Systems

e define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limit of authority

e determine the nature and extent of significant
risk that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the strategic objectives and formulate
the Group’s risk management strategies

Audit Committee

e review and discuss the Control Systems with the
management annually to ensure that the
management has performed its duty to have
effective Control Systems. This discussion includes
the adequacy of resources, staff qualification and
experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function

e review the nature and extent of significant risks,
and the Company’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external
environment (as detailed in Section C(2) below)

e review and discuss annually the significant
control failings or weaknesses that are identified
and raised by the auditors

e consider major findings on internal control
matters (if any) raised by internal or external
auditor and make recommendations to the Board
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The management (includes heads of business
units, departments and divisions)

e design, implement and monitor the Control
Systems properly and ensure that they are
executed effectively

e give prompt responses to, and follow up the
findings (if any) on internal control matters
raised by internal or external auditors

e monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks
in their day-to-day operations

e provide confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Control Systems

e prepare organization charts to show the
reporting relationships within the operation and
management to establish line of responsibilities

Internal Audit Department

e carry out the analysis and independent appraisal
of adequacy and effectiveness of the Control
Systems in respect of all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance
aspects

e alert the management on the audit review
findings or irregularities and advise them on the
implementation of necessary steps and actions
to enhance the internal controls of the Group

e report the results of internal audit reviews and
agreed action plans to the Audit Committee and
the Board on regular basis
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Operational Controls

During the Year, the management had analyzed the
control environment identified risks pertaining
thereto, and implemented various controls therein as
follows:—

Approach taken: The management conducts
interviews with relevant staff, reviews relevant
documentation of the Control Systems and
evaluates findings of any deficiencies in the
design of the Group’s Control Systems, provides
recommendations for improvement and assesses
the effectiveness of implementation of such
recommendations, where appropriate. The scope
and findings of review on the Control Systems will
be reported to and reviewed by the Audit
Committee annually.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines:
They are in place to safeguard the assets against
unauthorized use or disposition and ensure
maintenance of proper accounting records that are
in compliance with the applicable laws, rules and
regulations for the provision of reliable financial
that are information for internal use and/or external
publication.

Management information system and technology:
Such use to control over the business activities
allows close tracking of various inputs and outputs
of the Group’s business such as inventory,
products, customer information system and human
resources. It also tracks audit trails in the
authorization system under which permissions and
responsibility of authorization are clearly identified
and adequate records can be maintained in the
system.

Reports and variance analysis: Such reports
and analysis of each segment in the upstream,
midstream and downstream are conducted on
regular basis such that the performance of each
point of sales and each product category can be
easily accessible.
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Vi.

Vii.

Information flow: The transparent information
flow alerts the management promptly of any
deviations. Benchmarking with historical
database and comparisons with the same also
acts as a detecting device for spotting unusual
activities.

Safeguarding of assets: A number of general
insurance policies are maintained including
general accident insurance on the asset in
office, warehouse, retail stores against robbery,
burglary, fire and flooding. Insurance for
unexpected operational risks and marine
insurance for cargo shipment from suppliers or
manufacturers which are not on CIF terms are
also maintained. Stocktake is conducted at least
once a year and cycle counts may be
prescribed by operation head. Daily cash count
at retail shops and reconciliation is concluded.

Quality control: starting from procurement
stage in selection of furniture suppliers and
product offering:

> For “Ulfenbo” products and products for
special projects, suppliers and manufacturers
are required to produce evidence of compliance
such as test reports, raw material suppliers’
certificates and documents on electrical parts.

> Before placing purchase orders with any new
furniture suppliers, the procurement team will
assess their workmanship and product
quality as well as their reputation in the
industry.

> For products of new design which are usually
first released in the international furniture
exhibitions and fairs, the procurement team
will inspect the products for workmanship
and safety or quality issue. Regular meetings
are held between the procurement team and
the inspection and repair team to exchange,
discuss and resolve any quality issue with
the products. We also engage independent
third parties from time to time to inspect
products manufactured in the PRC.
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> For custom-made furniture, the project team > FIREMASE  TEBEK

conducts pre-shipment inspection at the
factory of our outsourced manufacturers by
checking of random samples of the finished
products on workmanship and other
specifications such as size, labelling and
packaging to verify that the finished lots
conform to such specifications before
delivery.

When the cargo of our products are shipped
to Hong Kong, the logistics team will check
the quantity, shipping mark and package
condition of the products upon their delivery
to our warehouse. The whole process of
devanning the cargo will be recorded by
video. If the Company discovers there is any
damage, our logistics team will, sometimes
under the supervision of surveyors, unpack
the relevant product and examine it for
defect. For products of new model or from
new supplier, our sales team will perform
checking when the goods arrive at the store
for display.

If any complaint is received in respect of any
product which is attributable to manufacturing
defect, the procurement team in conjunction
with the inspection and repair team would
make a decision as to whether or not to
inspect other pieces of the same product
model from the same shipment to see if
similar manufacturing defect occurs in the
same batch of shipment.

Our management will be informed if defects
are found and our sales director will decide
whether to proceed with insurance claim
and/or liaise with the relevant supplier for
negotiation of appropriate remedy.
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vii Purchase: The Group maintains a list of

approved suppliers for purchase of inventory. All
suppliers and their payment terms are pre-
approved by CEO and recorded in systems.
CEO stipulates the amount of inventory purchase
each month after taking into account of inventory
level and sales forecast. Inventory provision
policy is based on aging position of inventory
items and their condition. All consignment items
are approved by CEO on a case-by-case basis.

Retails Sales and wholesale sales: Discount
policy and credit policy are in place. All
discounts offered must be pre-approved by the
management. No credit is given to retalil
customers. Goods return/refund must also be
approved by the management. Consignment of
Ulfenbo products to dealers must be approved
by the COOQO.

3. Financial Controls

proper controls are in place for the recording of
complete, accurate and timely accounting and
management information;

annual budget on all capital and revenue items
are prepared and approved by the management
before being adopted;

the management monitors the business activities
closely and reviews monthly financial results of
operations against budgets/forecast;

regular reports on revenue, trade receivables’
ageing and debtors’ ageing and internal financial
reports are prepared to the management which
give a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Group’s financial performance;

monthly updates on internal financial statements
are provided to the management and all Directors
which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance, financial
position, liquidity and prospects in sufficient
detalils;
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vi. bank reconciliation is performed on monthly
basis to identify unrecorded bank transactions;

vii. monthly inventory count is performed in
storerooms and warehouse;

viii. annual audit by external auditor is carried out to
ensure that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, the
Group’s accounting policies and the applicable
laws and regulations;

ix. daily available fund report is reviewed to monitor
the cash flows against budgets/forecast; and

X. review the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff for accounting and
financial reporting function and their training
programs.

4. Compliance Controls

The following policies and procedures are in place to
safeguard the compliance control:

i. Systems and Procedures on Disclosure of
Inside Information to ensure, with the
assistance of an internal work team (if required),
that any material information which comes to the
knowledge of any one or more officers should be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated,
where appropriate, for the attention of the Board.
The Board shall make timely decisions on
disclosure, if necessary, and take appropriate
measures to preserve confidentiality of inside
information until proper dissemination of inside
information;

ii. Policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements which shall
be reviewed and monitored regularly by the
CGC as delegated by the Board in order to
ensure that the Company is in compliance with
all the applicable laws, statues, rules and
regulations and keep up on any legal
developments;

iii. CCT Compliance Committee is established to
monitor, control and regularly review connected
transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Company and ensure proper
compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules and disclosure
requirements;
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iv. Whistle-blowing policy for the employees of the
Group to raise concerns, in confidence, about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters. Such arrangement will be
reviewed by the Audit Committee which ensures that
proper arrangement is in place for fair and
independent investigation of the matters; and

v. Anti-money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Policy and Procedures are established
to set out the general framework for combating
crime against money laundering and financing of
terrorism. Such policy and procedures provide
guideline to prevent the Group’s employees and
clients/customers/suppliers/vendors/contractors
from being misused for money laundering, terrorist
financing or other financial crime and have set out
some indications of potentially suspicious
transactions/activities for employees’ reference.

Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of internal controls is tested by Internal
Audit Department regularly. Internal audit reviews
and agreed action plans should be reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board on timely basis.

C. Risk Management

(1) Risk Management Process

The risk management process includes risk
identification, risk evaluation, risk management
measures and risk control and review.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify,
analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process
within its scope of responsibility and authority. Risk
are evaluated by the Board and management based
on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on the
Group’s financial results; (ii) the probability that the
risk will occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at
which risk may occur.
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(2)

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will
manage the risk as follows:—

— Risk elimination — the management may identify
and implement certain changes or controls that
in effect eliminate the risk entirely.

- Risk mitigation - the management may
implement risk mitigation plan designed to
reduce the likelihood, velocity or severity of the
risk to an acceptable level or contingency plan
for possible loss scenarios.

- Risk control and monitoring - it involves
making decisions regarding which risks are
acceptable and how to address those that are
not; accidents and other situations involving loss
or near-loss will be investigated and properly
documented as part of the effort to manage
risks.

— Risk retention — the management may decide
that the risk rating is low enough that the risk is
acceptable level and no action is required and
the risk will continue to be monitored as part of
the risk management program to ensure the level
of risk does not increase to an unacceptable level.

Significant Risks and Strategies

Certain significant risks have been identified through
the process of risk identification and assessment.
Such significant risks of the Group and their
respective key strategies/control measures are set
out below:
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Decline in consumption demand resulted from
downturn in economic, unstable social conditions
and outbreak of COVID-19

Facing the unfavourable market situation, the
Group:—

— proactively manages the Group’s geographical
presence and develops alternative sales
channel including online shopping;

— optimizes business operations and shop
establishments;

— takes stringent cost control measures including
human resources streamline plan, rental
concession/reduction negotiation with landlord;
and

— closely monitors inventory level.

Interruption of supply chain due to outbreak of
COVID-19 and suspension of suppliers’
manufacturing plants

— diversify suppliers from different geographical
area to maintain a stable inventory supply;

— open communication channels with customers
and to explore alternative arrangements; and

— maintain close contact with suppliers to ensure
that goods can be shipped once the suppliers
resume production.

Threat of disruption of operation due to staff’s
contraction of COVID-19

COVID-19 is a highly contagious disease. People
contracting the disease and those in close contact
with the virus carrier are subject to quarantine. Retail
outlets, offices and restaurants with staff contracting
the disease in Hong Kong are required to suspend
business temporarily for thorough disinfection. To
minimize the risk:—
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— All staff travelling overseas or to Mainland China
are required to report to the Company and may
be required to stay at home for 14 days after
return to Hong Kong before reporting duty.

- The Company implemented split office arrangement
during the period when the threat of community
infection was high.

— There is flexible working hours arrangement for
office staff and shortening of business hours of
the Company’s showrooms and roadshows.

— The Company is providing masks for staff and
sanitizers at work place.

— There is reduction in the number of meetings
and the participants and video-conference is
used to minimize close contact among staff.

Reliance on Hong Kong market

The Company diversifies the market exposure, and
the Group explores online option with no territorial
limitation.

Unknown online competitors

The Group is further developing and leveraging on
online and offline market.

Shop location and rental expenses

Shop rental is always the key cost component of the
Group. The significant fluctuation of shop rents may
affect the Group’s profitability. The Company seeks
to reduce the risk of cost increases in the following
ways:—

— establish good relationship with landlords and
developers, keep abreast of rental of premises in
the vicinity to cater for showroom replacement, if
required,;

— explore other locations with good potential at
reasonable level. Traffic and relative position to
competitors nearby are also evaluated;
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— perform profitability forecast to determine
financial viability;

— closely monitor individual shop performance and
profitability to determine their renewal options;
and

— set up pop up stores at low rent to learn more
about the foot traffic and spending power of the
location before setting up a long-term showroom.

7. Product selection

Product selection is the area where the Group
should focus on in order to make sure that we stay
ahead of the competition:

— the purchasing team and management will
attend various furniture fairs to keep abreast of
latest trend and select good products; and

— regular sales meeting is held to review the sales
trend and market response to products.

8. Inventories turnover management

A higher, or quicker, inventory turnover decreases
the cash conversion cycle. An effective inventories
turnover management is in place:—

— there is regular review on inventory ageing
position. Compare with sales forecast and
market trend;

— high-value items are purchased after sales
orders are received; and

- maintain close business relationship and
communication with manufacturers to strive for
optimal and timely supply.

9. Cyber security risk

In order to mitigate cyber security risk, the following

measures are in place:-

— install action of specialized ransomware/virus
detection software in all computers;

— strict control and regular review of access rights
to the Group’s systems;

— training for personnel about dangerous email
attachments; and

— regular backups of data for recovery.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company had adopted a written dividend policy setting
out the principles for the Board to determine appropriate
amount of dividend to be distributed to the Shareholders.
The Company intends to provide Shareholders with regular
interim and final dividends (as the case may be) based on
the earnings attributable to its Shareholders after taking into
consideration of the factors stated in the policy, including
inter alia, (i) cash flow requirements for business operations;
(ii) cash available, financial liabilities and capital
commitment; (iii) market environment and challenges; and
(iv) future development and investment opportunities. The
declaration of dividends or recommendation on such
payment shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and
regulations including but not limited to the Listing Rules, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“CO") and the articles of association of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication
policy and the Board shall review it on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness. The Company communicates with
the Shareholders and/or potential investors mainly in the
following ways: (i) the holding of annual general meetings
("“AGM”) and extraordinary general meetings, if any, which
may be convened for specific purposes to provide
opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly to
the Board; (ii) the publication of announcements, annual
reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under the
Listing Rules and press releases providing updated
information of the Group; (iii) the availability of latest
information of the Group on the Company’s website at
https://www.ulfertsintl.com; (iv) the holding of press
conference(s) from time to time; and (v) meeting with
investors and analysts on a regular basis and participate
investor road show and sector conference.

There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and
general presentations are made when financial results are
announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit
the Company’'s website to raise enquiries through our
Investor Relations Department whose contact details are
available on the Company’s website and the “Corporate
Information and Key Dates” section of this annual report.
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Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for substantial separate issues, including re-election of
retiring Directors. The Company’s notice to the Shareholders
for the 2019 AGM was sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear
business days before the meeting and notices of all other
general meetings will be sent to the Shareholders at least 10
clear business days before the meetings.

The chairman of the 2019 AGM, the chairmen/members of
the Board Committees and the external auditor were
available at the 2019 AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. With the assistance of the Company Secretary,
the Chairman of the meeting had explained the procedures
for conducting a poll during the meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG Code.

Right to Convene/Call General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings may send a request to the Company pursuant to
Section 566 of the CO. The request must state the general
nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and
may include the text of resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.
Requests may consist of several documents in like form. A
request may be sent to the Company for the attention of the
Company Secretary in hard copy form or in electronic form
and must be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s).
Such request will be verified with the Company’s share
registrar and the Company Secretary will request the Board
to convene a general meeting within 21 days upon its
confirmation that the request is in order. Such meeting must
be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the
notice convening the meeting and such notice must include
notice of the resolution.
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Section 568 of the CO provides that if the Directors do not
within 21 days as stated above to call a general meeting, the
Shareholders representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves call a general
meeting, but the meeting so convened must be called for a
date not more than 3 months after the Directors become
subject to the requirement to call a meeting. The meeting
must be called in the same matter, as nearly as possible, as
that in which that meeting is required to be called by the
Directors. The business that may be dealt with at the meeting
includes a resolution to be dealt with at the meeting. All
reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholders of this
purpose must be reimbursed by the Company.

Putting forward Proposals at General Meetings

Section 615 of the CO provides that (i) Shareholder(s)
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders; or (ii) at least 50 Shareholders having a right
to vote on the resolution at the AGM may request the
Company to circulate a notice of a resolution to be properly
moved or is intended to be moved at that meeting. Such
request must identify the resolution to be moved at the AGM,
must be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s) and
sent to the registered office of the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary in hard copy form or in electronic
form not later than 6 weeks before the relevant AGM or if
later, the time when the notice of AGM is despatched.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available for viewing on the
Company’s website.

Making Enquires

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited. Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be
directed to the Investor Relations Department of the
Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the Year.
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with applicable
standards. Members of the Audit Committee were of the view
that the Company’s auditor, Messrs. Ernst & Young (“EY”) is
independent and had recommended the Board to re-appoint
it as the Company’s auditor at the 2020 AGM. During the
Year, EY has rendered audit services and certain non-audit
services to the Group and the remuneration paid/payable to
it by the Group is set out as follows:
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Fees paid/

payable

Service rendered Fri2 tBRTE BB A

HK$’000

THERT

Audit services Z#R#% 850
Non-audit services: JEZEURT

— Agreed-upon procedures for continuing connected transactions and review of preliminary 30

results announcement
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EY:

To the members of Ulferts International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 143, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, ##3
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our description of how our audit addressed the matter is

provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated

financial statements section of our report,

relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
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the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on  #2#t 7

the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

BRETEIH

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HPIMET ORI EFT R

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value ## 74 = o &3 F &

The Group had inventories with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$36,399,000 as at 31 March 2020.
The Group periodically reviews the net realisable value
of inventories to determine whether any write-down of
inventories to their net realisable value is required. In
estimating the net realisable value of inventories, the
Group considers, inter alia, the nature, ageing and
condition of inventories, pricing policy and strategies,
current market condition and other relevant factors.
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The determination of net realisable value of inventories
requires management to make significant assumptions
and estimates that affect the reported amount of
inventories and related disclosures.
AERFEFTREEREFLEARER MG HA¥
’E”ﬁ S 7 R e B MR EE -
We focus on this matter due to the magnitude of the
balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required in estimating the
net realisable value of inventories.
MR ARESHR s e EEA BMFFEZAZRFERE
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The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements.
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We evaluated management’s assessment of whether the
Group’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Our procedures included,
evaluating the methodologies, inputs and assumptions
used by the Group in determining the net realisable
value of inventories and the write-down of inventories
required, with reference to, inter alia, the nature, ageing
and condition of inventories, pricing policy and
strategies, historical and subsequent sales information,
and current market condition.
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Other Information Included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our
opinion. QOur report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chung Chi Ming.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

11 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
R TR R H A E E U s AR

Year ended 31 March 2020 2 £ 2020F3A3181LFE

2020 2019
i —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
REVENUE # A 5 218,853 242,959
Cost of sales $HER A (84,485) (90,695)
Gross profit EF 134,368 152,264
Other income and gains E bW A K& Bz 5 4,137 3,575
Selling and distribution expenses 8% kD #EH X (124,637) (130,939)
General and administrative expenses —f& M 1T B2 (25,042) (29,281)
Finance costs BI#Ak A& 6 (2,677) (240)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BrFigiEs 18 7 (13,851) (4,621)
Income tax credit TSR 10 2,223 643
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (11,628) (8,978)
FOR THE YEAR
FABERFRZHEEIBHBEE
Attributable to: fE{f :
Owners of the parent R a1 A A (11,628) (3,978)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY 11
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
BRREEBREREE ARGEREE
Basic and diluted (expressed in HK cents per share) (1.45) (0.50)

EANEE(BRABMRER)

Ulferts International Limited Bi{LBIBEE R A
Annual Report 2019/2020 £3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

31 March 2020 202053 H31H

Notes
B 5
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FFnE&E
Property, plant and equipment #7% « R & & & 12
Right-of-use assets {# A& E 13
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 16
FERFRIE - e R E A U R TE
Deferred tax assets EEFIIBE &E 21
Total non-current assets JERENE ELEE
CURRENT ASSETS mi#&&E
Inventories 7 & 14
Trade receivables & 5 &l 718 15
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 16
FERFRIE - e R E A U FRTE
Tax recoverable A] iR [EF{ 18
Cash and cash equivalents & RIE & EEY
Total current assets BN E E4AE
CURRENT LIABILITIES imEh&a &
Trade and bills payables & 5 & 7078 & B 2k 17
Other payables and accruals Efth & {5 508 & e 5t & F 18
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 7t B iR 1T{& 5K 19
Lease liabilities HE B & 13
Tax payable JEfH#IE
Provisions % 20
Total current liabilities 8 B (E42 %8
NET CURRENT ASSETS & & EFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #AERTBEE
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3E B & &
Lease liabilities HHE B & 13
Provisions B & 20

Total non-current liabilities 3EREN & E42%58

Net assets & & /FE

Ulferts International Limited EX{LBIFRE R A
Annual Report 2019/2020 3

2020
==t

HK$'000
TiBT

2019
—E-NEF

HK$'000

FET

30,826

15,009

2,468

48,303

46,326
9,404
8,976

2,057
59,469

126,232

1,599

56,038

70,194

118,497

6,827

6,827

111,670




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
:MT'EJE5T3§§;UEZFEE§E

31 March 2020 2020534318

2020
—ECEF

HK$'000
TBT

EQUITY #%

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

2019
—E-NF

HK$'000
TiBT

FAREEAELER
Share capital &7~ 22 110,337 110,337
Retained profits/(accumulated loss) RE %A (25tE18) (11,531) 1,333
Total equity #4858 98,806 111,670
Wong Chi Fai Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
Director Director
EF EF

Ulferts International Limited Bi{LBIBEE R A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o A L 4Ek
Year ended 31 March 2020 2 £ 2020F3A3181LFE

Retained
profits/
(accumulated
Share loss) Total
capital REER, equity
PR AR (RFTEBE) S AER
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
At 1 April 2018 722018 4H1H 110,337 5,311 115,648
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - (3,978) (3,978)
FABEREZEEEER
At 31 March 2019 7201963 H31H 110,337 1,333 111,670
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 - (1,236) (1,236)
RME BT BRELEE16F 2T E
At 1 April 2019 72019 4H1H 110,337 97 110,434
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - (11,628) (11,628)
FABEREZHEEELE
At 31 March 2020 720203 A31H 110,337 (11,531) 98,806
70 Ulferts International Limited EX{L BB G R A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GRRERER

Year ended 31 March 2020 2 £ 2020F3A3181LFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES &2 /583 RE
Loss before tax BrFLATE B
Adjustments for: BEIA NS EATIEFE

Finance costs B 7Rk 4

Interest income F 24 A

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

M WERBE 2 ITE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets [F A EE 2 T E
Gain on lease modification & 1&5T Uz

Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, plant
and equipment

HE MY BE RRBEB 28
Impairment of trade receivables, net & 3 EWFIERME - F58

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

WoRTF EE R 23R FE

Provision for reinstatement costs — reversal of unutilised
provisions/decrease in estimated provisions

EERARE — RBAREREE At B ER L

Notes

B &t

2020 2019
—E-gE  —F-Af

HK$'000 HK$'000
TBT TiBT

(4,621)

240
(782)
10,358

710

(215)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories &4 /(1&4n)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables & 5 EUW IR L (3 40)

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other receivables

FERFIE R R EA YRR, (&)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables

B S RN RARENERE N, Ofd)

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals

HoA A FROB & AT B g0, Oft )

Decrease in provisions & & 2

5,693

(2,810)
(3,141)
(1,047)

214

14,528

(116)

Cash generated from operations & & &8N FT15HE &
Interest received & UWF| 2
Hong Kong profits tax refunded/(paid) £i& (2 EBFEH

13,321
782
(1,631)

Net cash flows from operating activities & & /EBFTEIE i E F5E

12,472

CASH FLOWS FROM AN INVESTING ACTIVITY & EFHR LA E

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment

BEME BFE&REHRE

(20,352)

Ulferts International Limited EX{L IR &R A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEHERER
Year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202063318 IFF[E

2020 2019
i —E-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000
TiBT TiBT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES @i & EH IR nE

Net decrease in trust receipt loans {ErEWIE EFUR L /F 58 (4,002) (9,778)
Repayment of bank borrowings B&R1T1E - (6,018)
Principal portion of lease payments f &5 2 A& E5 (53,939) -
Interest portion of lease payments &7 2 | 855 (2,642) -
Interest paid B F| & (35) (240)
Net cash flows used in financing activities Bt & EEATAE &R 2 55 (60,618) (16,036)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,201 (23,916)
RekBReEEWEM CRd)F8

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 59,469 83,385
FUREMREFEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 63,670 59,469
FRARREEEY

ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Re kReEEBMEBRINT

Cash and bank balances R4 K iR1T456 63,670 59,469

72 Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

1.

Corporate and Group Information

Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office of the Company is located at Units
1905-07, 19th Floor, Emperor Group Centre, 288
Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 29 January 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in
the following principal activities:

e retail of imported furniture
e wholesale of imported furniture

e project sales and consultancy service arrangements
(“special projects”)

The immediate holding company of the Company is
Ulferts International Group Holdings Limited, which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

In the opinion of the directors, Albert Yeung Investments
Holdings Limited (“AY Investments Holdings”), which was
incorporated in the BVI, is the ultimate holding company of
the Company. AY Investments Holdings is legally wholly-
owned by First Trust Management AG, which has replaced
STC International Limited and Rozel Trustees (Channel
Islands) Limited during the year ended 31 March 2020,
acting as the trustee of Albert Yeung Investments
Discretionary Trust, a discretionary trust set up by Dr.
Yeung Sau Shing, Albert, a deemed substantial
shareholder of the Company.

ARREBAR

BEBEBRBER AR ARE ] NRES
AR ABREEAR  KRAFE
=R RN BB ETHEFE
2885% i 2 & B [, 19121905-07F ©

KABID B2018F1 A29H B EFH
BBARZHERAR(BRZFT])E
R T

RRARBREERAT < FAR - A&EH
EBARERIAT EEZER

o ENKRMETE
o EORMHLE

o HEBHMELRBARBLH( IR
HA )

ARAHNERERAF BN EB R X
BHEEMAHBCE RSB ZERE
ENCT

EERE M202063A31HFER
REBREXZESFMAKZOEEKE
BERAERAR([ BRI EZER]):
AN R AT IR A R) & A First Trust
Management AG £ 7 Albert Yeung
Investments Discretionary TrustZ 5 5E
NEEZEWER - HEMLSTC International
Limited &2Rozel Trustees (Channel Islands)
LimitedE BFZEFE 2 XFEA %1550 A
2RET BARRARATERR S
SR PTRRAL ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 E Z 20204 3A31E [
1. Corporate and Group Information 1. AAIREEER(Z)
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

FRMEARZER

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are AARIEEMBARZFIBOT ¢

as follows:

Place of
incorporation
and business
A R

Issued Percentage of
ordinary equity attributable
share capital to the Company

ERTEERET XQAAEGEZEIL

Direct Indirect

HE &

Principal
activities

TEXK

AR B

Ulferts International British Virgin US$1 100 — Investment holding
Investment Limited Islands 12E7T BEER
BRI EBR AT RBELRS
Ulferts of Sweden Macau MOP25,000 - 100 Liaising with project
(Macau) Limited JEFT 25,00008F9 7T customers in
IR L CRFT) BR A A Macau
A RFIIER B P
Ulferts of Sweden Hong Kong HK$350,000 - 100 Retail and wholesale
(Far East) Limited B 350,000/ 7T of imported
ImEEE GRE)BRAR] furniture, and
special projects
HEORBTE R
& TEIEE
Mighty Wish Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100 Provision of group
EEHR AT 55 1,000,000/ 7T tenancy agent
services
RHEEHESEREA
PR 75

SRR ERAINZARBINE R
ANTEFEFEXEIBNAEE
BEFEEARBD ZMBAF -E=R
A REEGHBARZFEEE
YREBN TR

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.1Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2020. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

2. 1RBEEE

HHBERREREBEELEGIMAE
(IEEERA® ) MBEMm2EEY
BamE £ ([ FEMBHRELER DR
EAEEAMBHRELER  FE G
HR([HFB G ER ] ERE) B
NREETRAA R EE R BED T LA
M3 ISR JDIRIE LR AOE
o ttMBEHRERGAET(ET])Z
5l MRS A FHAEIN 2EHEETH
EEsEOTT.

BHEE

REMBRREBBEARRLEMNBA
(R ANEE ) REB E2020%3 A
BIHLEFEZMBHRER -MWELRS
AprEESREZEGZ —EEE(R
EEBMER) - HAKEE RS EK
BREFTEGMZERERNSRNE
FrAEmE BRRNITEERR
BRRENZEEROWR BIASEE
BRERZEHE(AERE T AEE
S IRE S ERRRE) 2R

WARBEZEBEZRER 2 WRE T
SRR B LENER BB BT
EARRBHERETREBENE
AEEEEEMBEHEBEERER
B

(a) HZFEWRRETHEMEREFTAA

(b) REMBANRHPELEZER

(o) FEMILEIRREIEINTIE -

8~ B 2 M #5 #R R TV IR AN R R AE R
BERAR -2 EABRER - WE
REIZEKBTBAKEEBGEGEZ
HETUEH WESNAS G
B BEE BT SLL-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.1Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (a) the fair value of the consideration
received, (b) the fair value of any investment retained
and (c) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2Changes in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation
HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures
Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKFRS 11, HKAS 12
and HKAS 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
Annual Report 2019/2020 3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.2Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 19, HKAS
28 and Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle, which are not relevant to the preparation of the
Group’s financial statements, the nature and the impact
of the new and revised HKFRSs are described below:

(a) HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives
and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The
standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to account for all leases under a
single on-balance sheet model to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
except for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors continue to
classify leases as either operating or finance leases
using similar principles as in HKAS 17.

The Group reassessed a sublease arrangement at 1
April 2019 that was previously classified as an
operating lease applying HKAS 17 based on the
remaining contractual terms and conditions of the
head lease and sublease at 1 April 2019, and
determined that this arrangement is a finance lease
applying HKFRS 16. Accordingly, the Group
recognised a net investment in a sublease
amounting to HK$3,176,000 and derecognised the
corresponding right-of-use asset of the head lease
amounting to HK$3,176,000.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective method with the date of initial
application of 1 April 2019. Under this method, the
standard has been applied retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial adoption recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
at 1 April 2019, and the comparative information for
2019 was not restated and continued to be reported
under HKAS 17 and related interpretations.

228 RSB RIME (&)

BEBPIEREEBFEIR ZER] &
BEEHERFE195 2B FA S
A4 RI| 25285k 2 & 5] 20154 22017
FRARCFRENERRENEBG
WMERER NI REERT B AU R
SR HE R EHYNT

(a) BEFBRELELF16HFIARE
BEIEREI7TRIEE | FF
(BB ERE2ELZES) -2
BRI ETLHERESREM
g BEEREBZES)-7
BEISRCLEHE-BEI RS
B(ERRELZEg)-REF27
SRIFFESREELREARSZ
WA - ZERHTER T2 2
RFERE 2R I B sk
MAEE—SEEBRREADE
FrEHREAR UERAKREMFE
AEEERTEEAE HE TH
REBRBRIN BB IETRE 2R
F1om THBAAZ ST RERSE
eI ERFI7TIRN EE AR
F-HHAABEEFTHEETSS
SFERFEA7THRAUZRABHEE
DEAKEBMERE -

ANEBR2019F4 8 1H EHIE
—IHEATHE ZLHELEITR
2019F4A1HER BB 2R
FITHRBERHAEREH 2% T
EREREEESEAEER
E - WHTERE S BmESE
BlZE16m L AmERE - A
- AEEBRRER 2 IKEF
X6 #93,176,000/8 7T » I 4% |FFERR
REEZHEHBEFTHABEEDN
3,176,000 7T °

REBHBLETTBPERNE
SRS R FE 1658 VIR FE
A BH A2019F4 518 - R #Z
ik AEEBBPERZER
THEBERIRANDEFTEERES
R20194F4 18R EB% I B9 45
FRE TR M20190L BB K R 4K
By WEERERSSFER
FITHRLREERESR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.2Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (Continued)

(a) (continued)

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys a right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset and the right to direct the use of the identified
asset. The Group elected to use the transition
practical expedient allowing the standard to be
applied only to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed.
Therefore, the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16
has been applied only to contracts entered into or
changed on or after 1 April 2019.

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for certain of its
office properties, retail stores, warehouses and
equipment used in its operations. As a lessee, the
Group previously classified leases as either finance
leases or operating leases based on the assessment
of whether the lease transferred substantially all the
rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the
Group. Under HKFRS 16, the Group applies a single
approach to recognise and measure right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for all leases, except for
two elective exemptions for leases of low-value
assets (elected on a lease-by-lease basis) and
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
(“short-term leases”) (elected by class of underlying
asset). Instead of recognising rental expenses under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term commencing from 1 April 2019, the
Group recognises depreciation (and impairment, if
any) of the right-of-use assets and interest accrued
on the outstanding lease liabilities (as finance
costs).

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.2Changes in Accounting Policies and
Disclosures (Continued)

(a) (continued)

228 RSB RIME (&)

(a) (%)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases (continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 were recognised
based on the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the incremental
borrowing rate and separately presented in the
statement of financial position. The right-of-use
assets were measured at the amount of the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease
recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before 1 April 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment
based on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected
to present the right-of-use assets separately in the
statement of financial position.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 April
2019:

e Applying the short-term lease exemptions to
leases with a lease term that ends within 12
months from the date of initial application

e Using hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend/
terminate the lease

EREBEA-RATBEREEHE
E-HE

BREzZE

R2019F4 1B 2 HHEA B &
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BEF MR L EBRGE MK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.2Changes in Accounting Policies and 228 KRS RIBE(E)

Disclosures (Continued)

(a) (continued) (a)

Financial impact at 1 April 2019

The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 at
1 April 2019 was as follows:

(%)

MN2019F4818B 2B &
R2019F4 A1 HERMNE B M 3R
SEAFBIGRTEEA 2 E W
™

HK$'000
F& T
Assets EE
Increase in right-of-use assets {8 FA# & & 1 1 75,157
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 3,176
TEFIR - & R H b fE U R IE L AN
Increase in total assets 428 E N 78,333
Liabilities & &
Increase in lease liabilities & & &0 83,909
Decrease in other payables and accruals Eth fE kI8 & =+ & F R 4 (4,340)
Increase in total liabilities B &4 FEE N 79,569
Decrease in retained profits 4% & % FjE 4 (1,236)
The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to MR2019F4 A1 v HEBBEER

the operating lease commitments as at 31 March
2019 are as follows:

2019F3A31H 2 &K & HH & &I
IR ¢

HK$'000
TR
Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 89,481
R2019F3A31 H 2 REHEAIE
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at 1 April 2019 5%
FR20195F4 A1 8 Z IiEFI9E EEE %
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 R2019F481H Z2HEEE 83,909

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
Annual Report 2019/2020 3



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.2Changes in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures (Continued)

(b) HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for
income taxes (current and deferred) when tax
treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as
“uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does
not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an
entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately;
(ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
(iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax
losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity
considers changes in facts and circumstances.
Upon adoption of the interpretation, the Group
considered whether it has any uncertain tax
positions. The Group determined that the
interpretation did not have any significant impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

2.3lIssued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

in these financial statements.

Amendments to Definition of a Business’
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’
and HKAS 8

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

228 RSB RME(F)

(b) BE(BREMHRERBRES)—

REFE23FMIBHMBEERE Y &
FERBSHENE12RHNER
MTETHE(REE A THEE
BAEtkn ) B3R BEX
BRATHRASH(ANBEMELE)E
HEEAE-ZRBTEARSE
BEHERF 125 & BN TR IE
HEB LENNTEEETETE
74 T8 5 32 A A O hE 25 I R B AR
BME-Z2BAERBEI)EER
BEBETHEEMRBETERE
B (NEREB S HENHIER
BB ENMRE (i) EEmm
ETERBEEMIFEEERE
E APAMREEE RKPBAHK
B RFHEER  R(iv)EEINEEE
EENBEREF  AEBENEK
MZREEEEERTEEMT
BERERR - AEEREZR
EBHAEEZPEMK KRR

BEREARE-

2 3CEMERRERZERIME

3R AR

A=A

7482 )90 5K 50 3% 2 B 75 9 2% o A
TR MR MR R B RAEE ]

HEMBEREEL -

FEMBRELENE XHFEE
B|ZMEFT AN

FEMBRELNS FEEENE
o% - BB EFHE
A 395 & A
B & RSB 75

ZABETAR

EEYEHERRE REFHABEN
10 B ABGTE A& ES
BIZE285%(2011) 2 RIMEEHE L
EETA JEES

BERUBREENE (RS F?
1758

BEBSHEREIRE BEAZEE
MEBGEERSE

85 2SR AR

T R2020F 1 ARz R 2 FE

fEAE AR

2 RR2021F1A1H= v BB 2 FEE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.3lIssued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

The Group is still in process of assessing the impact of
the above new and revised HKFRSs. Further information
about those HKFRSs that are currently expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The
amendments clarify that for an integrated set of activities
and assets to be considered a business, it must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of the
inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and
continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on
whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed
the definition of outputs to focus on goods or services
provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an
optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
April 2020. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
transactions or other events that occur on or after the
date of first application, the Group will not be affected by
these amendments on the date of transition.

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.3lIssued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will
depend on the nature or magnitude of information. A
misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by
the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The Group
currently is still assessing whether the amendments will
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements in the period of initial application.

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the
asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in

the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
Annual Report 2019/2020 3

2AERESEEBE (F)

FERMEEREE)

REBEHREFTEREBRRET
Z A2 R ZBERE BT BELEIN
Dol RZFNR QAR EE
TG -ZERAEEEEZ AT
Bl &8 At HIRE B - SRR
CEEREBR(BERIN T EE
B A SEBHAETFRELENE
ERERIR IR M ETE < REE(EHRE
A48 ) B @ 2 BE R BN FrE £ 1
AEt ABER

AR TS

AT ALER TIERAG AR = AR
BERE :

(a) THRUTALHERBHZAL:
(i) FEHIRERIEHAEE

(i) YAREEBEATE : 3

Sgl_

(i) AAEBEXAKEEF AR
FEEFEEKE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% — 33"5%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

2AERESEEBE (F)

HE(H2019F48188ER) (&)
KEBEBERMEA(E)
(b) HEEE

HEBENREEMEEHAEBR

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in
the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in profit or
loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to
the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessor (continued)

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments
and related payments (including the initial direct costs),
and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the
net investment in the lease. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition
exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an
operating lease.

Leases (applicable before 1 April 2019)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is
the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating
leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases net of any incentives received
from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for
credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at
amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in profit or
loss.
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred in the process of disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in profit or loss.

A provision for reinstatement costs is recognised when a
contractual obligation under the terms of an operating
lease has arisen to reinstate a leased property at the end
of the lease. Reinstatement costs are provided at the
value of the expected costs to settle the obligation at the
end of the reporting period using estimated cash flows
and an equivalent asset is recognised and depreciated
over the term of the operating lease. The estimated
future costs of reinstatement are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of the reporting period
and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

e Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally upon delivery of the
goods.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
e Consultancy service arrangements

Revenue from consultancy service arrangements is
recognised over time, using an output method to
measure the Group’s progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant services, because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group, as the Group
performs. The output method recognises revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining services promised under the
contract.

Other income

Other service income is recognised over time, using an
output method to measure the Group’s progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant services.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates an occupational retirement scheme
registered under the Hong Kong Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the scheme. This scheme
has been granted exemption under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. When an
employee leaves the scheme before his/her interest in
the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the relevant amount of the forfeited employer’s
contributions.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. The
Group’'s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Contributions to these schemes are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets of
these schemes are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

2.4Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

3.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of the reporting period.
Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Provisions for reinstatement costs

The Group makes provisions for reinstatement costs
associated with certain leased properties under
operating leases attributable to the Group based on the
estimates of the expected costs to be incurred to settle
the relevant contractual obligations under the terms of
the leases at the end of the reporting period, which are
subject to uncertainties and might differ from the actual
costs to be incurred. Significant judgements and
estimates are required, including, inter alia, making
various assumptions with reference to past experience
and available information to determine the expected
costs to be incurred. Further details are included in note
20 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and

Estimates (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Net realisable value of inventories

The Group periodically reviews the net realisable value
of inventories to determine whether any write-down of
inventories to net reliable value is required. In estimating
the net realisable value of inventories, the Group
considers, inter alia, the nature, ageing and condition of
inventories, pricing policy and strategies, current market
condition and other relevant factors. Based on such
assessment, write-down of inventories will be made when
the carrying amount of inventories decline below their
estimated net realisable value. Due to changes in market
and economic environment and customers’ preference,
actual saleability of inventories and actual selling prices
that could be realised might be different from the original
estimation and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in these estimations.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. As appropriate, the
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default
in the future.
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and

Estimates (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The
IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such
as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when
leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such
as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Operating Segment Information

The Group principally focuses on the retail and
wholesale of imported furniture, and special projects.
Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker, for the purpose of resources allocation
and performance assessment, focuses on the operating
results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources
are integrated and no discrete operating segment
information is available. Accordingly, no operating
segment information is presented.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Substantially all of the Group’s revenues from
external customers during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019 were attributed to Hong Kong based
on the location of the customers or the location of
certain key processes/resources from which the
Group derived the revenues.

(b) Non-current assets

All of the Group’s non-current assets as at the end of
the reporting period were located in Hong Kong
based on the location of the assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 &/ £2020F3A31H1EFE
4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4. REFBER(#)

Information about major customers EBEXEREFZER
No revenues from transactions with a single external B 220204 &2019F3H31H IEFE -
customer for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 BMEREE—INIBEFPR S WAL
amounted to 10% or more of the total revenue of the REBEBUAT10%TIA L ©
Group.

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains 5. WA -Ht AR W=
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASDTAT -

2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTET

Revenue from contracts with customers R E & F A LW A

Retail of furniture RMLEE 198,594 226,795
Wholesale of furniture RA#L3E 9,258 11,777
Special projects — project sales and consultancy service arrangements 11,001 4,387

Ti2RE — A B HE LA AR LB

218,853 242 959
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHWA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) HTUAEH

Types of goods or services & R RIS FAR

Sale of goods $H&E & M 218,321 242,879
Consultancy service arrangements & IRTS 24k 532 80
Total revenue from contracts with customers BF & 4 A 4258 218,853 242,959

Timing of revenue recognition W A 7 52 &

At a point in time R X —#52, 218,321 242,879
Services transferred over time F&RERE® 7 RIS 532 80
Total revenue from contracts with customers BF & 41 A 4258 218,853 242,959
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

WA - H A R s (4F)

EEEHBAE)
(i) AZUAEH(E)

TRBURA RS R EER 2 W
e Hit AREHINA0AE
WHBEHIRET TR A B EHER:

2020 2019
- —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities at the

beginning of the reporting period:
RBEPTFAEHAEND R

Sale of goods #HE &

22,548 16,195

(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of goods. For retail sale of furniture,
payment in advance and/or upon delivery by
customers is normally required. For wholesale of
furniture, payment is generally due within 30 to 60
days from the date of billing. For project sales,
payment is generally due based on terms agreed by
relevant parties as set out in respective agreements.

Consultancy service arrangements

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
over time as services are rendered and payment is
generally due based on terms agreed by the
relevant parties as set out in respective agreements.

The Group generated revenues from certain projects for the
supply of custom-made furniture and other related
products and services (“project sales”) and arrangements
involving the supply of custom-made furniture and related
products and services by external furniture suppliers to
certain fellow subsidiaries (“consultancy service
arrangements”). During the year, the Group’s total revenue
from consultancy service arrangements amounted to
approximately HK$532,000 (2019: HK$80,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains 5. WA -HttARWKER (&)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) BEEEHWAN(E)

The Group entered into several contractual agreements AEERETE=ZTREBERTEFFIR
with certain third parties for the supply of custom-made HEM LA RFRI L ZHE KT HE
furniture and related services, pursuant to which, the Bt A"EEEE BEINZED
Group directly/indirectly delivered such goods and mERETETRAMBE AR MA
services to certain fellow subsidiaries and, in the opinion RAIEERE ZELHNDFPRRAZR
of the directors of the Company, these are special MEBARz TIRBE R - FA A&
project arrangements involving the fellow subsidiaries. EREZEFLHERERHERAL
During the year, the Group recognised project sales 11,000/ 7T (20194F : 336,000/8 7T ) ©

revenues of approximately HK$11,000 (2019: HK$336,000)
under such arrangements.

2020 2019
—g-2E  —B-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET

Other income and gains E bl A K Uz

Other service income E b ARF U A 1,305 1,080
Rental income & WA - 1,181
Provision for reinstatement costs — reversal of unutilised provisions/ 219 215

decrease in estimated provisions

EERARE — RBREERE,hHEER D

Gain on lease modification & & 5Tz 1,120 -
Bank interest income R77 7 B U A 930 782
Others E A 563 317
4,137 3,575

6. Finance Costs 6. BIFERA
2020 2019
—EEF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FBT
Interest on bank borrowings $R1TE 2 Fl.&8 35 240
Interest on lease liabilities FAE & &7 2 2,642 -
2,677 240
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

7. Loss Before Tax 7. BRELAIEIE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEERRATBSEE IR (GFA)T
(crediting): IE=SC
2020 2019
i =l
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Cost of inventories sold and services provided 82,111 89,985
EHETFENAR R REREKA
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 2,374 710

WoRL T 5 A SR E

Total amount recognised as cost of sales 84,485 90,695
EERAEERAN 2 B

Auditor’s remuneration 1% 1A B & 850 1,030
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 16,243 10,358
ME BENRE2ITE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (£ REEEZITE 13 51,050 -
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, plant and 282 3

equipment

HE M BEKREEE 2 B8

Minimum lease payments under operating leases - 60,100

KEHEETHRIEMEERNK

Lease payments not included in the measurement of lease 13(c) 4,539 -
liabilities

Rt AHERBEHECHERNRK

Contingent rents under operating leases &2/ EH Nk AT S - 560

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ and chief
executive's remuneration (note 8)):

BERMAS(TEBEEREZTHRABFHM(MES)):

Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances 35,545 40,846
TE %o el =R
Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes) 1,623 1,746

BAEF B CERH S

37,168 42,592
Impairment of trade receivables, net & 5 E W ZIE R E - H58 15 102 -
Foreign exchange differences, net [E 3 =2 %58 (175) (1,144)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

8.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration of the
Group for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong
Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

8. EERFEMTHAEME

REBEBZPTESF EHRR FAE QA
EBIZE383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) K (f) LA K
FERRR(BBRESNEER) RIS
2T BERNFAREBER LT BT
HAEMEIT

2020 2019

—E-FF —E-hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Fees 8% 1,140 1,140

Other emoluments: E B -

Salaries, allowances and discretionary bonuses & « 28 R EIBIEAL 3,514 3,956

Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes) 119 36
RIS BN CEBEHRETE)

3,633 3,992

4,773 5,132

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:

(a) BUFHITES

FR BENBILFERTEE2H
Ey'UENE

2020 2019
e —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FH&T FHET
Chan Yee Man [fR#& % 180 180
Chiu Kin Fai & 180 180
Ng Hoi Yue )& F 180 180
540 540
There were no other emoluments payable to the FAWEENBIERNITESZ

independent non-executive directors during the year
(2019: Nil).

H A B (20194 « £ )o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 8. EERFETHAEBME(Z)
Remuneration (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) BITEERETETHAE

Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
discretionary scheme
bonuses contributions Total

Fees ¥ 2ELK BKE remuneration
we BIETEAL STEIHER & 4a%8

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT TAT FAT FAT

2020
20204

Executive director and the chief executive:
HITEENEETHAE

Ng Koon Keung, Ricky =758 150 2,217 60 2,427
Executive directors: $I1TE 5 :
Wong Chi Fai =& 18 150 - - 150
Mok Fung Lin, lvy E[E % 150 1,297 59 1,506
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa &% 150 - - 150
600 3,514 119 4,233
2019
20194

Executive director and the chief executive:
HITEENETEBEITHAE

Ng Koon Keung, Ricky =& 5% 150 2,490 18 2,658
Executive directors: $117E = :

Wong Chi Fai =& 150 - - 150
Mok Fung Lin, Ivy 85 150 1,466 18 1,634
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa & &UF 150 - - 150
600 3,956 36 4,592
There was no arrangement under which a director or FA MEESFHETETHAER
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any BFEE A L RES R ERES
remuneration during the year. AIEE -

.I.|2 Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

9.

Five Highest Paid Employees 9. IEREHES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the FA AEEREARSHEERIEN
year included two directors (2019: two directors), details BZEFQRO9F - MEEE) A2
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. FIBE N EXHEES - 2 =4(2019
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining F =)W IERNABEENIEETET
three (2019: three) highest paid employees who are BABZBRaHEERFAZME
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are =3 N
as follows:
2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F& T F& T
Salaries, allowances and discretionary bonuses ¥1% - 8L R BISIEAL 2,556 2,859
Pension scheme contributions EAR& 52K 86 143
2,642 3,002
The number of non-director and non-chief executive MleE Ty ESEERNZIEESNIEFE
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within THRABZEZSHEE AT ¢

the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

BEAH

2020 2019

—E-EF —ZT-NF

Nil to HK$1,000,000 &% 1,000,000/8 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017&7C 21,500,000/ 7T 1 1
3 3
During the year, no emolument was paid or payable by FR - AEEVEMIFESRIEETE
the Group to the non-director and non-chief executive THRABZ &S HWNES s ER
highest paid employees as an inducement to join or ERME - ERRSI MAREREHR
upon joining the Group or as compensation for the loss AR & B 1& 2 5% B ok B B B (8

of office (2019: Nil). (2019%F : #&)o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 s R Mt

31 March 2020 £ 2020F3A318 1L FE

10.Income Tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year.

Current — Hong Kong BNl — &8

10.Fri8%t

EBEFNESH IR FERNERAEE L
{HET FE R B L 7 16.5% (2019
F 1 16.5%)1EH B -

2020 2019
SE L

—E-NEF

HK$'000
TET

HK$'000
TET

Charge for the year FAX 138 227
Under/(over) provision in prior years @ FEEE T, (BEEE) 5 (83)
Deferred (note 21) BT (Mf5F21) (2,366) (787)
Total tax credit for the year R IBE 2 4B (2,223) (643)

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before
tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate (statutory tax rate
for the jurisdiction in which the Company and the
majority of the Group’s operating subsidiaries are
domiciled) to the tax credit at the Group’s effective tax
rate is as follows:

BREBEEME (KRR RAEE K
DIEEWBRRIFTEREER ZATE
ME ) EEANBRTAIEER 2 R IERF
TEEBEAEEERBR;E 2R IEER
BEERWOT

2020 2019
=t BF ¥ =t B -

HK$'000
T

HK$'000
T

Loss before tax Br ¥ AT EE (13,851) (4,621)
Tax credit at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 16.5% (2,285) (762)
REBEEBE16.5%TH 2 HIEE &

Adjustment in respect of current tax of previous periods 5 (83)
387 R RN ARTH T8 3 28

Income not subject to tax 2 WA (192) (167)
Expenses not deductible for tax T~ a] 1% B 2 600 409
Others HAty (351) (40)
Tax credit at the Group's effective tax rate (2,223) (643)

EAKEERREAE ZHALL
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

11.Loss Per Share Attributable to Ordinary N.BAREERERES ARG
Equity Holders of the Parent BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is B E2020F3A3IHIEFE - FRE
based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary AREEDBEFANE QR EERER
equity holders of the parent of HK$11,628,000 (2019: %A A FE(LE1E 11,628,000 70 (2019
HK$3,978,000) and the weighted average number of 13,978,000 L) K FAE BEITE
ordinary shares of 800,000,000 (2019: 800,000,000) in 1B % hn#E ¥ 9 £71800,000,000/% (2019
issue during the year. 4 1 800,000,000% )5t & -
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in NE B R H E£2020F 201993 A31
issue during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. AIEFETEABTESIER 2B %
TEMBAR -
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on: THAEBETESRER KB EEE
2B -
2020 2019
—E-FF —F-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET
Loss E#
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent used in the (11,628) (8,978)

basic loss per share calculation

AEBRERNEBEMAS AR EBRESES ARGESR

Number of shares

RDEE
2020 2019
—E=%% —B-NE
Shares &2
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 800,000,000 800,000,000

used in the basic loss per share calculation

AEEBRENEBEAAZFAERITEBRINEFSHK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT #R AR B T

31 March 2020 & Z=2020F 3318 IEF[E
12.Property, Plant and Equipment 12.Y% - BERRE

Furniture,

fixtures and
Leasehold equipment Motor
improvements HM KB vehicles Total

HEMRERE S EE AE HEREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET

31 March 2020 202063 A31H

At 31 March 2019 and at 1 April 2019:
M2019%F3 318 KiR2019F4A18 -

Cost A AR
Accumulated depreciation Z&H#78

Net carrying amount BRI FE

At 1 April 2019, net of accumulated
depreciation

R2019F4 A18 - MKk RHiE
Additions NE
Disposal/write-off & /i3

Depreciation provided during the year

FAFERERE

At 31 March 2020, net of accumulated

depreciation
202043 A318 MR RAHITE

At 31 March 2020: 720203 H31H :
Cost FZR
Accumulated depreciation 25t &

Net carrying amount BREF#E

.I.I6 Ulferts International Limited EX{LBIFRE R A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & Z=2020F3A318 IEF[E
12.Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 12.9% BERREE)

Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold equipment Motor
improvements B KE vehicles Total

HEMREE &y AE HAREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TBT FET TET TiBT

31 March 2019 201943 A31H
At 1 April 2018: 7A2018F4H1H :

Cost XA 51,087 12,536 2,198 65,821

Accumulated depreciation Z5tir& (34,883) (11,731) (1,828) (48,442)

Net carrying amount BREF{E 16,204 805 370 17,379
At 1 April 2018, net of accumulated 16,204 805 370 17,379

depreciation
R2018F4A18  MBRRHITE

Additions 22,742 1,066 - 23,808
NE

Disposal/write-off - (3) - (3)
HE M

Depreciation provided during the year (9,875) (401) (82) (10,358)
FRITERE

At 31 March 2019, net of accumulated 29,071 1,467 288 30,826

depreciation
201943 A318 R RAHITE

At 31 March 2019: 74201943 H31H :

Cost A 72,259 13,588 2,198 88,045
Accumulated depreciation Z:tir&E (43,188) (12,121) (1,910) (57,219)
Net carrying amount BRI /FE 29,071 1,467 288 30,826
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 R SR B =L
31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H1FFE
13.Leases
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain of its office
properties, retail stores, warehouses and equipment
used in its operations. Leases of properties and
equipment generally have lease terms of 1 to 5 years.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are as
follows:

13.78&
FEBMEREHEA

AEEFRARNELEZETHRY
X TEE RERRE -MENRE
ZHMBERS—EhfF-

(a) RAEEE

FAREBERAEEE 2IRMEE
KEBERSIIT

Properties

and equipment

MERRE

HK$'000

FET

As at 1 April 2019 72019F4H1H 75,157
Additions RE 23,836
Depreciation charge &% i (51,050)
As at 31 March 2020 /202053 H31H 47,943

(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FAHEAGBEZREERESHH

movements during the year are as follows:

ZanR

Lease liabilities

*ﬁ{a‘: ==

HK$'000

TET

Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 72201964818 ZREE 83,909

New leases ¥ & 22,477

Accretion of interest recognised during the year 2,642

FAEHERNBEE

Payments 155X (56,581)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 720203 A831H 2 lREE 52,447
Analysed into: T4 :

Current portion i 2)EE 5 40,007

Non-current portion JE/RBIE 7 12,440

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 30 to the financial statements.

.I 18 Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

13.Leases (Continued) 13.18&8(4#&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) REBEARBAE)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) RiERERZHERBSEHT
leases are as follows: wnr

Total amount recognised in profit or loss M IEzER Z 4258 58,231
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) &R BRI WwERM
24(c) to the financial statements. FT24(c)H R -
(e) Extension options (e) EFHEERE
The Group has several lease contracts that include AEBEEETEEEHEE®E
extension options. These options are negotiated by MEESYN ZERIEREEIE
management to provide flexibility in managing the EBEENEEEEHEEEAS
leased-asset portfolio and they are aligned with the WEREFENEHFRLBF T
Group's business needs. Set out below are the NE | B A EEETE R A
undiscounted potential future rental payments AN R BERKRES
relating to periods following the exercise date of MR (P BEEERERRA):
extension options that are not included in the lease
terms:
2020 2020

12020
-

HK$'000

FERT

Interest on lease liabilities THE & &F| & 2,642
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets EHEEE ZITES L 51,050

Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases with remaining lease terms 4,238
ended on or before 31 March 2020 (included in selling and distribution expenses)

ELRG HATH & [k 82 T A BARR 202063 A3 1 Hak 2 Rl E M < b i E R R
(FtAHE M #H )

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (included in administrative expense 301
and selling and distribution expenses)

BEEEEEHEEMZAX GTATTRAXAREE LD #HMA)

Payable Payable
within after
five years five years

EFARXRMN hEBRERN
HK$'000 HK$000
FTiERT FET
Extension options expected not to be exercised 82,660 34,379 117,039
TREAARIETTE 2 BB 1E A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

13.Leases (Continued) 13.18&8 (&)
The Group as a lessor AEBEHERHBEA
The Group subleases certain carparks under finance AEERERECEHELHESHEE
lease arrangement, with the lease negotiated for a term TIEES BEERR=F-

of three years.

At 31 March 2020, the undiscounted lease payments R2020F3A31H AEBHEEMEF
receivables by the Group in future periods under non- O] HBEE B B A E T A AR 2R HA A R U
cancellable finance lease with its tenant are as follows: KBRS MRWOT

2020 2019

—EIRF —EF-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT

Within one year —F K 1,540 1,520
After one year but within two years —&F & BRMER 390 1,540
After two years but within three years MEZRER=ZF R - 390
1,930 3,450

14.Inventories 14.7E

2020 2019

—T-TF —E-NE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FHT

Goods held for sale H{EHEE R 36,399 46,326

15.Trade Receivables 15. 8 5 ERNRIE

2020 2019

i —EF-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FTHT

Trade receivables & 5 fE U518 3,592 9,454
Impairment J&{& (152) (50)
3,440 9,404

]20 Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & Z=2020F3A318 IEF[E
15.Trade Receivables (Continued)

The Group’s retail sales are usually paid in cash or by
major credit/debit cards, with the settlement from the
corresponding banks or other financial institutions
normally within 7 to 30 days. The Group’s trading terms
with its wholesale, project and consultancy service
customers are mainly on credit, except for new
customers, where payment in advance and/or upon
delivery is normally required. The credit period for these
customers is generally one to two months, extending up
to six months for major project and consultancy service
customers, or based on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in respective agreements. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and overdue balances are reviewed by
senior management. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the Group
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

15. B3 BWRIR(E)

AEB s TEHEBEURS AN
NEZBEAR/EREAXM &
RIBITHHEMEMEEBRTENTE
ERNGEE - AEBEHAMBEEE
HEEFPRBARBKEFR 2B SR
FERBUEERFRER EHEP—
#ﬁﬁTﬁ EH&/&ZE Vil
NEE - ZERFPZEEH— F%—
§MMH AAFEMEARFKE
ﬁ%%gﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁMHiﬁm
BABRESHEAS BT HR -
B S SRERIE S ERIFE 2 UK
H WAHEHEEEERBHER K
%IIMWﬁA%EWME%%hﬁ
EREFE R EME AR £
PEWIB BTGB °

RIS R AEEE 5 RKHRIAR
BEAHZEREOTOT -

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-hNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FE T

Within 1 month —1{& A A 2,808 8,266
1to 3 months —Z= =1{& A 449 974
Over 3 months =1& A A £ 183 164
3,440 9,404

Included in the Group’s trade receivables was an amount
due from a related company of approximately HK$66,000
as at 31 March 2020 (2019: a fellow subsidiary of
approximately HK$98,000).

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables is as follows:

Wzmo¢3H31E ﬁﬁilf?%rw&

FRIE B 15 e Uk 8 B A B] 30IE £966,000
,Em@m9 H%Mﬁ““—,\ﬁ
98,000/ 7)) °

KIER (B R 1R e 2 E B

2 5 WG
WWT

At beginning of year R4 50 50
Impairment losses, net (note 7) JBEEIE - F5 (Fi5E7) 102 -
At end of year IRERXR 152 50
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

15.Trade Receivables (Continued) 15. E5ERRIE(E)
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting REHRE DR HABEERETR
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit BT Ut ERHEEEE - BHEX
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due DERBRZEZP S HBETHEME
for groupings of various customer segments. The HOW B8 -ZtERENImEA
calculation reflects information that is available at the HOENEBBTSEMH BAKRKRK
reporting date about past events, current conditions and LTRSS BB (R s ) B R o
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXHEHIEAREEREFEAEER
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a ZREWFIEEENEERRAER
provision matrix:
As at 31 March 2020 M202053H31H
Past due
381 5
Less than 1to3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months
B PR —@ER —Z=@AB =@BUL
Expected credit loss rate 2.42% 12.66% 14.09% 17.39% 4.23%
TBHEEEEX
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) 3,018 237 291 46 3,592
BmEEE(TET)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 73 30 41 8 152
R EEEB(TET)
Based on an impairment analysis performed at the end BEBERREHARETHRES T R
of the reporting period, the expected credit loss as at 31 20193 A3 AWM BHEEBEHE
March 2019 was considered by management to be BER BB/ -
minimal.
16.Prepayments, Deposits and Other 16. BRMIE - RERHMEWR
Receivables b |
2020 2019
i =EF-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Prepayments &1 5018 671 1,861
Deposits and other receivables* %4 K H th & W G * 24,183 22,124
24,854 23,985

Impairment allowance Ji{& & & - -

24,854 23,985

Less: Non-current portion J& : FERENE D (10,387) (15,009)

Current portion jRE)EED 14,467 8,976

* Included in the Group’s deposits and other receivables was an * A2020%3A318 - [EURE KT B A FIFK

amounts due from fellow subsidiaries of approximately T8 492,512,000/ 7£(20194F : 2,513,000

HK$2,512,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$2,513,000) BIDRTARE B S A B R
which are unsecure, non-interest bearing and repayable on BT R RARERER -

demand.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

16.Prepayments, Deposits and Other
Receivables (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
other receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year R4
Amount written off as uncollectible #fi#5~ 7] U B 4 %8

lé.iﬁﬁg’)@ﬁ © BEREMEWK

/=

Ho A B U R TR R B B 1R B 2 EE)
FIanR

2020
Ss

2019
—EF-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TiER
- (115)

- 115

At end of year RFEXK

None of the financial assets included in the above
balances was either past due or impaired as at 31 March
2020 and 2019. The financial assets included in the above
balances related to deposits and other receivables for
which there was no recent history of default and past due
amounts. Their recoverability was assessed with reference
to the credit status of the debtors, and the expected credit
loss as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 was considered by
management to be minimal.

17.Trade and Bills Payables

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

2020820193 A31H T A Lt 45
BAZeHEEMESRTERE-
SFALHEHR e EERTBTE
HRENCELBEFENEZE RE
U GRIE B R - Hal i m M Ty 8 &
ZEHEANEERRTE - RKR2020
F2019F3A31H M EHEEE B
ERERBR -

17.E5BAIREARENRE

R|EHRR BEHRNFBRENRE
RIRBERBMZREDTAOT

2020 2019

—EEF —E-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFiExT F&T

Within 1 month—1& A A 3,613 6,699
1to 3 months —&=1&A 34 204
Over 3 months =1& A A £ 808 387
4,455 7,290

The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing
and are normally settled on terms of 60 to 120 days.

The Group’s trade and bills payables include amounts
denominated in the following foreign currencies:

EoRNAERENZEEATTER
—HRZBRE60E E120H RS ©

AEBEZEZRNFBENRENREBR
AR FISNES ETHE Z FRIA -

2020 2019
—EIRF —E-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F& T FE T

United States dollar (“US$”) Et([FET]) 297 457
Euro (“EUR”) BT (TBUT ) 3,452 6,033
3,749 6,490
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

18.0ther Payables and Accruals

18. Hftb B IR R FEFT & A

2020
—E-%%

2019
—Z-hF

HK$'000
TBT

HK$'000
TBT

Other payables and accruals H1th B~ 58 & fE5T & F (a) 15,104 20,543
Contract liabilities &#1& & (b) 19,313 22,604
34,417 43,147

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals was an
amount due to a fellow subsidiary of approximately
HK$8,853,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$6,992,000),
which is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and has no fixed
terms of repayment. Except for the above, other payables are
non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one month.

As a result of the initial application of HKFRS 16, accrued
lease payments of HK$4,340,000 previously included in
“Other payables and accruals” were adjusted to the right-of-
use assets recognised at 1 April 2019 (refer to note 2.2 to the
financial statements for further details).

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

BAE -

(a)

31 March 2020
—zo2g
EH=r=8

Consideration received from customers in advance

EWEFRNKE

HK$'000
T

1202063 A31H FET R ZHT B A 75K
1A #78,853,000/%8 7T (20194 : 6,992,000
P TT) BT AR S B E th FE A BB M Rt
BA -ZEREAEERT RENER
TEEBHR - B Ll o) HabfER
BARE  FHHEA—MEA -

HREBARERAT BN BHREEDE 16
SR BER AT EMEA O R ERTE
R | 2 FEsH A E 74,340,000 T E T
HEZP2019F4 B1H R 2 F A&
BEGE—THS F2HYBHRERN
22.20)0

ERBEEZFHBRINGOT
31 March 2019

—E-NEF
=A=t-H

HK$'000
FTET

1 April 2018
—E-NEF
MA—H
HK$'000
BT

Sale of goods #H&E & M 19,243 22,287 16,293
Sale of gift vouchers 4% 70 317 277
Total contract liabilities &4 & ({&42%8 19,313 22,604 16,570

Contract liabilities include consideration received in advance
of the delivery of goods and for sale of gift vouchers.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

19.Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings

Current BN &}

Bank borrowings repayable within one year or on demand — unsecured =

R—FRAFIZEREEZRITHER - BER

2019
—ZT-hF

HK$'000
TBT

—E-%%

HK$'000
TBT

4,002

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

REE 2 SRITERFIA TN EEE

2020 2019

—E-FF —E-hF

HK$'000 HK$’'000

TFiET FET

US$ %=t - 375
EUR BT - 3,627
HK$ #7T - -
= 4,002

As at 31 March 2019, the bank borrowings bore interest
at United States dollar/Euro prime lending rates as
quoted by the relevant banks or the higher of the
following:

— United States dollar/Euro prime lending rates as
quoted by the relevant banks

— London Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.95% — 2.5%

— Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2.75%

As at 31 March 2019, the bank borrowings of the Group
with a total carrying amount of approximately
HK$4,002,000 containing a repayment on demand
clause had been classified in total as current liabilities.
For the purpose of the above analysis, the bank
borrowings were analysed into bank borrowings
repayable within one year or on demand.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$97,000,000
(2019: HK$97,000,000), of which an aggregate amount
of HK$9,926,000 (2019: HK$17,685,000) was utilised as
at 31 March 2020.

MR2019F3A31H  RITERIZRE
SRITATRETT, /B xERERFIR
SUTERESEES

- MHERTAERET/ BIRESR

BRI

- BEBITRFRFEERNMIOBRE
2.5%

- BAERTREREN2.75%

R2019F3A31H BREAELH A
4,002,000 T A B SR ERKEEIKRN
ZAREBRITERCIEARDERES
ANBEE - LD s - RITERD
BR—EFRNERIIRERKER -

R2020F3A31H  AEE ZIRTTRE
4858 4 /97,000,000 7T (20194 -
97,000,000/ 7T ) * E A R2020F3 H31
HE B 42%8479,926,000/% 7t (2019
£ 1 17,685,000 7T ) °
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

20.Provisions 20.1%15
Pursuant to the terms of relevant tenancy agreements, BEEBHEERRGTK NEEIER
the Group, as the lessee of certain properties under KREHEBE TN ETYMEZABARE
operating leases, has the obligations to reinstate its BMEEHER RIER BETBE
leased properties to their original state or to a condition HERAMEERRIESEHERHZ
as specified in the respective tenancy agreements at the FIfiE 2R B BASEFRE-

cost of the Group at the end/upon the termination of the
relevant lease terms.

Provisions for reinstatement costs

EE A
2020 2019
s 2:2 —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
At beginning of yeari & 4] 8,426 5,301
Additional provisions 84N & 747 3,456
Amounts utilised during the year FRE A& 5 (714) (116)
Reversal of unutilised amounts/decrease in estimated provisions (219) (215)

AP PRERE A EERD

At 31 March 3H31H 8,240 8,426
Less: Non-current portion J& : FER B35 (3,818) (6,827)
Current portion i E)36 5 4,422 1,599
The provisions for reinstatement costs were determined EEKANBETIRBEARREELE
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by BT LRI AERMER 2 RERME
the directors of the Company with reference to past AMEE ZEBRIEGEFELRE
experience and available information. The assumptions BB B 8 R A e & ek (2@ A ) -

and estimates are reviewed, and revised where
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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21.Deferred Tax Assets 21 EERIBEE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year BEEMIBEERFAZEENAT -

are as follows:

Depreciation in

excess of

related

depreciation

allowance

BIBEEITE

BEZInE

HK$'000

TR

At 1 April 2018 R2018%F4 H1H 1,681

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year 10 787
FFAFNER 2 ELERIE

At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 2,468

201943 A31H 201964 A1H

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year 10 2,366
FFAFRNER 2 RLERIE

At 31 March 2020 7202093 A31H 4,834

22.Share Capital 22. B

2020 2019
—E-EE —E-—RE

HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET

Issued and fully paid Shares: B 21T R BE KD

800,000,000 (2019: 800,000,000) ordinary shares 110,337 110,337
800,000,000(20194F : 800,000,000) & i A%

23.Share Option Scheme 23. 18RS
The Company adopted a share option scheme (the RARR2018F 1 H8H M —IERER
“Share Option Scheme”) on 8 January 2018. WEEHEI([ BN EETEI]) -
The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are AR E 2 E 2B T

summarised as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme (a) BRETEZE®N
To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate EAEERERS BB MBS
talented eligible participants to strive for future THZEBEBSEEUFRREAE
developments and expansion of the Group. B2 RRERRIER -
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23.Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

Eligibility

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include any director, including any executive or
independent non-executive director, any employee of
any member of the Group, any trustee of a trust
whose beneficiaries or objects include any employee
or business associate of the Group, any adviser or
consultant to the Group, any provider of goods and/
or services to the Group, or any other person who
the board of directors of the Company considers, in
its sole discretion, has contributed or may contribute
to the Group.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

(i) total number of shares available for issue as at
11 June 2020 (i.e. the date of the Company’s
annual report for the year): 80,000,000 shares:
and

(i) percentage of the issued shares of the Company

that it represents as at 11 June 2020: 10%.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

(i) in aggregate not to exceed 1% of the shares in
issue in any 12-month period unless approved
by the shareholders; and

(ii) options granted to substantial shareholders or

independent non-executive directors or their

respective associates in any 12-month period
exceeding 0.1% of the shares in issue and with

a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be

approved by the shareholders.

Period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option

At any time during the option period in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and such
other terms and conditions upon which an option was
granted from the date of grant of the option but in any
event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

No minimum period unless otherwise determined by
the board of directors.

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
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23.BRERTEI(E)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

&5
BREAEZAERZEERE
AEBEEMNKERRIZEMNES
(BREMAITHIBILIFATE
E)EARE XmAdXaH
RER/ANEBEEE R EHH
BANEENERMETA A&
BEMERKFERA  NEEE
R m & RIR 2 R 3
ARFREFEL2RNBERB/EXR
SEEERSAIEGHFLERZ
EfIEMm AL

AFRIT2ZRMDELREE

(i) M2020F6A11H(EIAR A
REEFHRAB) A FEITZ
M5 #8251 : 80,000,000/% : K&

(i) 72020F6H11H 16 & 2 A
BEETRNZBD 10% °

BEEERSEETERER L
PR

(i) BrIEEREE T HIEE
1218 B BAR Rt 1518
BEBITRMDZ21% 0 &

(i) PAEAM121E A HRERmEE
HEBUIERITEETHIRES
AZBBARN ZERE &
BBEEITRM Z01% K E
{EB3B5,000,0005% 7T /8 £ I
HHLAE -

ITERBRERBRG 2R

BEBRETS 2GR EERT
EREDHEREBERENZE
AR AR R B B 2
ERERE - ERERIBERT T3
BiEE L B A 104 -

BRETENLAFEZRES
PR
BREEFERTEE-
AR

& Al 4
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

23.Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(9)

(h)

(M

No

(i) Price payable on application or acceptance of
the option: HK$1.00;

(i) The period within which payments or calls must
or may be made: within 28 days from the date of
grant; and

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of
the payments or calls must be repaid: Not
applicable.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the board of
directors of the Company and will not be less than
the higher of (a) the Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares on the date of grant; and (b)
the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Approximately 7.5 years (expiring on 7 January
2028).

share option has been granted under the Share

Option Scheme since its adoption date.

24.Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year, additional provisions for
reinstatement costs in respect of certain leased
properties of the Group amounting to approximately
HK$747,000 (2019: HK$3,456,000) were recognised
and these amounts were recognised as part of the
cost of related property, plant and equipment of the
Group and reflected as additions to leasehold
improvements of the Group during the year.

(i) During the year, the Group had non-cash

additions to right-of-use assets and lease

liabilities of HK$23,836,000 and HK$22,477,000,
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements
for leased properties (2019: Nil).

23.BRERTEI(E)

(9)

(h)

()

(i) EABNIZEMEIRERTTAEM
BB : 1.0087T

W78 3 A BE A R Bk AN AN K
ZHRR ¢ & A HIEET28H
AIEISE

(i)

ERNREBAN KA ENE
REEBRR - TEM -

(iif)

BETEEZEE
TEENHARRESTSETE
EABERTIESE : (QRE
B RS A B ) 2 B <2 BT U T
B R(b)REEE L A B (E
LEBARRBMAD Z FIIBE R
(g -

BRETEZHTEH
497 5% (R2028FE1 A7HEM) °

BBBOER S RAE R SEBK
RRERE R SR G -

(a)

24.FEHERERMET

TEFRERF

(i) FR-BAEBEETHEEAME
FriEL 2 BB A EL 5
AN 1B 15 #9747 0007 7T (2019
F : 3,456,000 ) BRI
IHERAAREERBEYE - K
B REERAN 2 —E5 TR
FREVAAEB 2HEY
EREBRE -

RER AEERERAMEZ
HMELTHEDREEFEREEE
MHEBBZIFEBEEARE
23,836,000/ 7T 22,477,000
T (20194F - #8)o

(i)
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24.Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash

Flows (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

2020

2.3 EBEERERME (&)
(b) MEZHELZEE2ET

20204

Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings

HEEE RITIEK

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTiERT TERT

At 1 April 2019 722019%4 A1H - 4,002
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 IRAE BT KR E ER|FE 165 2 & 83,909 -
At 1 April 2019 (restated) F2019F 4818 (E%1)) 83,909 4,002
Changes from financing cash flows Bt &R &2 2 & (56,581) (4,002)
New leases & 22,477 -
Interest expense Fll 8 F X 2,642 -
At 31 March 2020 720203 A31H 52,447 -

2019

20194

Bank
borrowings
AT

HK$'000
FET

At 1 April 2018 7A2018%F 4 A1H 19,798
Changes from financing cash flows BER &R E 2 & &) (15,796)
At 31 March 2019 720193 H31H 4,002

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

statement of cash flows is as follows:

(c) HEZRERHAR
AARERERZHEEZREN
ARSI

2020
—g-%%F

—re—

HK$'000
FET

Within operating activities & & &8 A 4,539
Within financing activities gt & ;& EA 56,581
61,120
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25.Commitments

Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019

The Group leased certain of its office properties, retail
stores, warehouses, office equipment and carparks
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for
properties were negotiated for terms ranging from one to
four years, and those for office equipment were for terms
of five years.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

Within one year —F X

In the second to fifth years, inclusive E-EFAF (RIEEREMT)

257K

A2019F3 831 A 2 &R ERIE

AEERBEEHERHEREET
WG TEE BE WARER
EAEES -WEZHEEANT T —
EMF MBAREZEBRRSE-

MR2019F3A31H - AEE T Al 84
KEHETARKERENRE 2T
HE R

2019
—E-NF

HK$'000
TET
53,356
36,125

89,481

The operating leases of certain retail stores also called
for additional/contingent rentals, which would be based
on a certain percentage of revenue/turnover of the
operations being undertaken therein pursuant to the
terms and conditions as stipulated in the respective
tenancy agreements. As the future revenue/turnover of
these stores could not be reliably determined at the end
of each of the financial years, the relevant contingent
rentals have not been included in the operating lease
commitments disclosure above. Certain of the lease
arrangements contain renewal options.

ETEEE 2K EHEmKEESN
SRS WIHRIESBHEE R EM
Rl M AR R AR B XS A5 I
A/ EEBZETADHLKE - AR
ZEERN S BERZAREBA
SERBEBAVEETE WAMNKAH
TARFTA LMW EE 2 & ETHEA&IE
M- ETHELZHBESBEER-
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26. AL RS

(a) BREBIEREMU T Prafil 2 52
5 RHE RGN REERER
BT EATRS

26.Related Party Transactions

(a) In addition to the transactions, arrangements and
balances detailed elsewhere in these financia
statements, the Group had the following transactions
with related parties during the year:

2020
SE L

HK$'000
TET

2019
—EF-NEF

HK$'000
TET

Project sales 18 B $H5 (i) 9,212 753
Rentals #& (i) - 7,078
Lease expenses T &R (ii) 8,312 -
Reimbursement of administrative expenses {THE S Z &R (i) 1,813 4,315
Financial advisory fees Bf 75 EaRI & (iv) 320 240
Company secretarial fees R a|EE (v) 160 160

LB AR A RREE KM

132

The above related companies were beneficially
owned by a director of the Company or private
discretionary trusts of which Dr. Albert Yeung is also
the founder.

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The project sales were on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements.

The rentals charged/lease expenses were based on terms as
agreed by the relevant parties as set out in the respective
tenancy agreements. Lease expenses comprised of
depreciation charge of right-of-use assets and interest on
lease liabilities amounting to HK$7,709,000 (2019: Nil) and
HK$603,000 (2019: Nil), respectively. The right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities as at 31 March 2020 were
HK$7,389,000 (2019: Nil) and HK$10,637,000 (2019: Nil),
respectively.

The reimbursement of administrative expenses charged
by a related company was with reference to the costs
incurred by the related company.

The financial advisory fees were charged by the related
company based on terms as set out in the respective
agreements.

The company secretarial fees were charged by the
related company based on terms as set out in the
relevant agreement.

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
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AZREFR(GELIRAEAIMR
N EHER -

Wt

(i)

(i)

(iiif)

(iv)

HAHEDERAERETIZEH
19555 P 0 190 7E 2 R TT ©

MeTH MERTRa T 1%
EZEHINNE B E R 2 GG
E-HERYBEFEREEEK
HEaBRNEZ2HERISAA
7,709,000/8 7L (20194 : &) &
603,000/ 7T.(20194F : 4#) - 72020
FIABIH - FAEEEREESR
&5 Rl 47,389,000/ 7T (20194 :
)5 10,637,000/ 7T (20194 -
/o

BB ARRRZITBRANZ2E
AR R R EL 2 OANME

BAHE N B AT W 2 B TS B B i
IR B a2 RN
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31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

26.Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(b) The amount due from the immediate holding company
included in the Company’s current assets is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(c) Operating lease arrangements

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases of properties entered into with
certain fellow subsidiaries of the Group falling due
as follows:

26. Bﬁﬂ?ﬁx%(ﬂﬂ)

?“”TZmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ %E
//\j:QZZ;_TZ{E\ &R ©

(c) KEMERH

MR2019%63A31H AEE N &H
TRIZRWEB R FIER] 2o B
%“HEETKXFﬁﬁﬁHM
R 2 B EBIE RN

2019
—E-NEF

HK$'000
FET

Within one year —F K 8,922
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ 2 F AF(BIEEEMF) 10,410
19,332

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

(d) XEETFZEEAEHM -

Fees % 1,140 1,140
Short-term employee benefits & Hi{g 8 & Fl 6,070 6,815
Post-employment benefits BBk 4Z | 205 179

6,275 6,994
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 7,415 8,134

NFEIRERAB ZHERE

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

EENTBTBRAEME 2 E M
AFEEN M A RA LS

Ulferts International Limited Bi{LBIBEE R A

Annual Report 2019/2020 %3k

133



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

27.Contingent Liabilities 27. 4 AREE
At 31 March 2020, contingent liabilities not provided for 20203 HA31H » 7 & B I R 7 B
by the Group in the financial statements were as follows: Bm&RIELBE ZARBERT :

2020 2019
i =EF-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT TERT

In connection with a bank guarantee given to a landlord in lieu of rental 2,535 2,635
deposit required under a certain tenancy agreement

BEAR—R2EXETELZRITER URBEETHERRREZEERS

In connection with a bank guarantee given to a customer in lieu of a 171 171
surety bond required under a certain project sales agreement

BRR—RBEFFEHZRITER UKEETHB HEBRERT I BORE

2,706 2,706
28.Financial Instruments by Category 28. ZERE S 2EeMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of EEMeRTARRERRZEEE

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting LU
period are as follows:

Financial assets ERMEE

Financial assets
at amortised cost

BHERATECERERE

2020 2019

i —B-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT TiERT

Trade receivables & 5 fE gz 8 3,440 9,404

Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22,737 21,082
FTATERIE 1R MEMERRIERN 2 & REE

Cash and cash equivalents 3¢ RIE S HEY 63,670 59,469

89,847 89,955
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28.Financial Instruments by Category

(Continued)

Financial liabilities

8.EERIE T 2RI A (E)

TRAE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

BHERATEZEREE

2020 2019

—E-FHF =F-NF

HK$'000 HK$’000

F#&T FHET

Trade and bills payables B 5 FE T 5/ I8 R B RIE 4,455 7,290

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 13,951 14,976
FFARMBENFIEREAERANSRIAE

Interest-bearing bank borrowings & B R1T1E 5 - 4,002

Lease liabilities HE & & 52,447 -

70,853 26,268

29.Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
reasonably approximated to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
trade and bills payables, financial liabilities included in
other payables, accruals and other liabilities, interest-
bearing bank borrowings reasonably approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities/
repayable on demand of these instruments or the effect of
discounting is not material.

29. 2 FERLXFEEBR

TMEERBEBEZAFERIARE
PR 2R 5 (RAKAFE
HERIN R 2 SRARK

RBEEHRR AEEZeREERS
MAEEsFEBEAEMEE N TER
=

EEECFHAE FHERES MR
TEEY BHRWFIAE 5T AENK
HReEREBEERERNZEME
E BEZRNFTEMENRRE AR
fENRIA B ERREMAER
ZEBBENNERBRITERZAF
BNREFEZRMESREMESE T8
RARZSIAYBEERLE 7BIZ
EXREEXRWBEAFTELE -
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31 March 2020 #Z220204F3 A31A L4/
30. B EMEE R EREE

30.Financial Risk Management Objectives and

136

Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and cash
equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade and bills payables and financial
liabilities included in other payables, accruals and other
financial liabilities, which mainly arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates. The
Group mitigates the risk by monitoring closely and
regularly the movements in interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before
tax (through the impact on floating rate interest-bearing
bank borrowings).

Year ended 31 March 2019 HZ201963HA31 B L EE
US$ 7T

EUR BT

The directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 March 2020 was
not significant.
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AEEZFESRIABETEIRT
EREREMREFED - LES R
TAZIEAMERARE 22X
KEEET AKERELZHEEMLE
MEENBE WEZREFE A
BARE e REMERRIERLZ
THEE BEHRNFBALRENER
A K Gt N B Al &S 5K08 ~ [BRF & R K&
Hite@MBEAZERAB HEE
HEEREXAKRERS-

AEBERMTAELEZ T 2R SN
R INERKR - EERRMRBE
cREB-EFeRIMMREESE
BRARR < K - BRARERBALIT -

MRE R

R ER B e = 2 AR B IR Y AR
At B ZEFBIRITERBE B2 TG R
Pk AEEFBFHRERE
EM R BB REZRER o

TRETEMEHEMEERFIE 2
BRT  NEBEBR A EREGE B Y
BIRTTERZZE) YRR gEHRL

BB PKRE -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)

in basis in loss
points before tax
HAER FREEAIE 18
2, Omd) 2,/ Omd)
HK$’000

FHET

50 2
(50) (2)

50 18
(50) (18)

ARRAREERE  AEENR2020F3 A
STHEERZFEEMRIL FEX -
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30.Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures primarily arise from purchases by the Group's
operating units and certain monetary liabilities of the
Group denominated in EUR and US$, being currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. For the year
ended 31 March 2020, certain interest-bearing bank
borrowings and purchases of the Group were
denominated in EUR, which is different from the
functional currencies of the respective operating units.
The directors of the Company do not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rate as
the HK$ is pegged to the US$ within a narrow band.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the EUR exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities).

2020 20204
If HK$ weakens against EUR fis 7 7T A BT B2 (B
If HK$ strengthens against EUR fis 75 7T 5 BT AHE
2019 20194
If HK$ weakens against EUR fis 7 T A BT B2 (B
If HK$ strengthens against EUR it 78 T LT FHE

Credit risk

The Group trades on credit terms primarily with
recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s general policy that customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’'s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

30. U BEMEEBEREE (&)

S L B

TEEEAIXZRZEBRR - ZER
SEFEREAEELESEMIEL 2K
BEAEEURTEETHEZET
BEEaE(AIZEEMNEE AN
B ) N EH £2020F3A31H IE F
B AKEET AT ERITER
NEETUBITEHE BEEKESE
Uz EBER - AR alEETEH
ETAABLEXRETIEHETMENKE
g BABTEETEN  RER/IE
EHENANLE-

TRETRBEMNREMBEEMES
RE/ETLEZBERT  NEERB R
Y EUTEXRA IR 2 B IRRE(
EREENBBEZAVERED) 2 G
B

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
EUR exchange in loss
rate before tax

& i = BRER A BT 1B
i, Grd) 2, Omd)
% HK$’000

F& T

5 173

(5) (173)

5 483

(5) (483)

FERER

AEBERERVEEERIFZE=
FTETEEEE - AREZBER
BERENTEEEE CEFPHARB
EERERRF U BUGRIRLEHRTY
BRERKEEEETER MAKHE
T 2 B AR A o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

30.Financial Risk Management Objectives and 30. K EKREEREREE (Z)
Policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) SPEE BB (4F)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging RAREBERFAEE

The tables below shows the credit quality and the TRV NIAIABRELAEEEFE
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's HENEEEENMAXNEKRNEE
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due B (BRIEEBAT P BERARKEE S
information unless other information is available without MAEEEMER  TAEZEERE
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification BHER) RFREESE-FEFSE
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross BEReREENLEKRAEE-

carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2020 R202053H31H

12-month
ECLs

@A

FEHEE Lifetime ECLs
i 2 HFRHEEESE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
R EMER E=REER (GRS

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Trade receivables* & 5 [fE W FIA* - - - 3,592 3,592

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other

receivables
STAFERRIE - 12 e REMEYRIEN ©

MEE

— Normal** IE&E** 22,737 - - - 22,737
Cash and cash equivalents
ReRBE2EED

— Not yet past due & 7 i £ 63,670 - - - 63,670

86,407 =

3,592 89,999
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

30.Financial Risk Management Objectives and 30. K EKREEREREE (Z)
Policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) SMERR(Z)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BRABBRFRAEER(E)
As at 31 March 2019 R2019%E3H31H

12-month
ECLs

+=@A

HHEE Lifetime ECLs
E5i8 2HEHREEEFE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
E—FEER B E=PEER (GNP

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
Trade receivables* & 5 [E W FIA* - — - 9,454 9,454

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other

receivables
FPATERFRIA e REMERGRIEA 2
TREE
— Normal** [E&** 21,082 - - - 21,082
Cash and cash equivalents
RERRESFEY
— Not yet past due & 7 #Hf 59,469 - - - 59,469
80,551 - - 9,454 90,005
*  For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified * BAKERE S EKGIERERSCRE
approach for impairment, further detail information is T E— SR E R SHRRM 154
disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements. B
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in > RFABNRIE - e REMERGNE
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to MEEMNGEELEEEABHNEER
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no [EE] WAMEENBTREREER
information indicating that the financial assets had a BERUREERBRAEZIE M-

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Liquidity risk nBESRR

The Group’s objective is to maintain adequate funds to REBEERFARZE S AmE H
meet commitments associated with its financial liabilities. HemBBEREB2ARE - AEESR
Cash flows of the Group are closely monitored by senior EREEEEALECHARHSME
management on an on-going basis, considering the EZHHBARKEER 2 BARSE
maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities and financial ME REFEELKEEETYEERS
assets, and projected cash flows from operations. ME o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

30.Financial Risk Management Objectives and 30. K EKREEREREE (Z)
Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER(E)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as REBRREHRZERMABEERDE
at the end of the reporting period, based on the FTARIT IR R B BB R AT

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Less than

On demand 1 year 1 to 5 years
BRER DR—F —ZHF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR

31 March 2020 202053 831H

Trade and bills payables = 4,455 = 4,455
B 5 BN RIE R ENER
Financial liabilities included in other 8,853 5,098 - 13,951

payables and accruals
STAHMENREREAERNEREE

Lease liabilities FAE & & - 40,835 13,113 53,948

8,853 50,388 13,113 72,354

Less than
On demand one year Total

BER DR—F #st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTBT TET TBT

31 March 2019 20193 A31H

Trade and bills payables & 5 B 7118 & B~ E % - 7,290 7,290
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 6,934 8,042 14,976
FFAHMENFIBEREAERANCREE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t 8 R1T1E R 4,002 - 4,002
10,936 15,332 26,268
As at 31 March 2019, the above interest-bearing bank MR2019F3A31H LR A B 4 A
borrowings with aggregate carrying amount of 4,002,000 L2 Lillst BRITERE
approximately HK$4,002,000 contained a repayment on BREREERGT W T HEBRTE
demand clause giving the relevant banks the G 2 RN EMRREEER B
unconditional right to call in the borrowings at any time Hitst B HERM S - AR EE
and, therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity RIRERERE ]

profile, the total amount was classified as “on demand”.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

30.Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors of the
Company do not believe that the borrowings will be
called in in their entirety at any time before their maturity
and they consider that the borrowings will be repaid in
accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the
corresponding banking facility letters and bank
correspondences. This evaluation was made after
considering: the financial position of the Group at the
date of approval of these financial statements; the lack
of events of default, and the fact that the Group has
made all previously scheduled repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the bank borrowings
which contained a repayment on demand clause, the
maturity profile of the bank borrowings as at 31 March
2019, based on the contractual undiscounted payments
and ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand
clause, was as follows:

As at 31 March 2019 201943 H31H

30. U BEMEEBEREE (&)

RBESREM(E)

EEA LIMER ARRIESFHEERE
& 7 B B A AT (A B R B 2 B
B BRREFBREERITHEE K
R ERTT 2 ERBEMKIIHBEE
& o ARHE IR E BIA TN BERMAEDL -
AEBERA AR B IHRER B H2 M55
M BEHSMN AEECDREEEM
BIERTRE ZER

BESERERERGERIBITER
&7 R2019F3A831H 2 SR1TE =&
ERBAINARNTBRNRETZEEBRE
KEBBRZEEZHBPERAT :

Less than
one year

PSR-
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT FBT
- 4,082

Total
#et

HK$'000
TBT
4,082

On demand
RER

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 March 2020 and 2019.

BEXER

AEEEAREE 2T ZABTRBERA
SEERNEERFERLETAE
B WHRFRRZZEAL R UXHFE
XN FERSHRREE

AEBREBEEERR 2B RIEBEE
EZRBEMEREEARBILIELSA
Bo B AR ERNER  AKETR]
REABRKN TREZIRE REEAR
TR R S B ITH (D - RELZ 20204
N2019F3HA3IBIEFE  A&EEHE
BEAZER BEXEFIENE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS SRR MY =T

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

31.Statement of Financial Position of the
Company

Information about the statement of financial position of
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 3En#) &

K} BN S O

RBERAREEARNRBHBRREZ

AR T

2020
SsL

HK$'000
TET

2019
—E-NEF

HK$'000
TET

Investments in subsidiaries RIIB AR ZIHE 6,065 6,065
CURRENT ASSETS RB) & &

Other receivables £ 1t f& U 718 - 132
Due from subsidiaries FEUHIE A TIF0IE 84,977 51,123
Due from the immediate holding company J& & 42 [% A 5] 5018 3 3
Cash and cash equivalents IR & RIREEEY 15,640 50,652
Total current assets JRBN A E42E 100,620 101,910
CURRENT LIABILITIES #gh&a &

Other payables and accruals EHth & Z 18 & fE 5T & A 600 735
NET CURRENT ASSETS B & EFE 100,020 101,175
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES & ERAEEE 106,085 107,240
Net assets & EFE 106,085 107,240
EQUITY #Ez

Share capital &7 110,337 110,337
Accumulated losses (note) Z&tEE (M) (4,252) (3,097)
Total equity #4258 106,085 107,240

Wong Chi Fai
BEEE
Director

EF

Ulferts International Limited EBX{LEIBRE R A
Annual Report 2019/2020 3

142

Ng Koon Keung, Ricky

RE 8
Director

EF



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BATS #R AR M =t

31 March 2020 & ZE202053H31HILFE

31.Statement of Financial Position of the
Company (Continued)

Note:

3N.ARDBZMBMRREK (&)

GER

A summary of the movements in the Company’s accumulated Rpalz RETBEEESmnT -

losses is as follows:

Accumulated

losses

25TEE

HK$'000
FTHET

At 1 April 2018 201844 31H (3,046)

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FFAEE N & 1B 4458 (51)

At 31 March 2019 and at 1 April 2019 201943 A31H &kiX2019F4A1H (3,097)

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FREE N & 1B 44%8 (1,155)

At 31 March 2020 72020434318 (4,252)
32.Approval of the Financial Statements 32. 1t EB R R

The financial statements were approved and authorised B &R B R2020E6 A11HEES

for issue by the board of directors on 11 June 2020.

SHEAE NIRRT -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

The following table summarises the results, assets and
liabilities of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2016,
2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020:

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017 were
extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated 16
January 2018.

2016

e

HK$'000
TR

Results ¥4

—

HK$'000
TR

TR AREBREZE20164F ~ 20174
20184 + 20194F [ 2020F3 A31H L FE
CEE - BENABE:

REBE 20165 M2017F3A31H IFF
BEz¥E BEENMBEBRERBEEARA
HAHEA2018F1A16A 2 HEIREFE -

For the year ended 31 March

BEIAINALEE

2017 2018
—E-N\F

HK$'000
TER

2019
—F-NF

HK$'000
TER

2020
—E-EE

—<—=

HK$'000
TR

Revenue YA 210,070 224,331 258,553 242,959 218,853
Profit/(loss) before tax B FiATEF,/(E51E) 27,004 35,572 12,546 (4,621) (13,851)
Income tax credit/(expense) FT5 R E %,/ (FX) (4,651) (5,427) (4,069) 643 2,223
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent 22,353 30,145 8,477 (3,978) (11,628)

BREEEANREET,(BR)

2016

—E-RE

HK$'000
TR

Assets and liabilities EER &5

—E—+HF

HK$'000
TET

As at 31 March
R3AB31H

2018
—E-N\E

HK$'000
TR

2017 2019

ZE-NEF

HK$'000
TET

2020
2R

HK$'000
TR

Total assets & E 82,638 111,378 176,442 174,535 199,483
Total liabilities 4 & f& (37,884) (36,479) (60,794) (62,865) (100,677)
Net assets & & H#{E 44,754 74,899 115,648 111,670 98,806
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 44,754 74,899 115,648 111,670 98,806

BRRIRAE ARG

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 16 (see
note 2.2 to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for the summary of the corresponding financial
impact). Accordingly, certain comparative information for the
years ended 31 March 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 may not
be comparable to the year ended 31 March 2020 as such
comparative information was prepared under HKAS 17.
Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 16
are disclosed in the “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies” Section.
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